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jectively recent— events at the Millenium
in San Francisco flashed through his
mind in a jumble of outrageous images...
It had been a weird, fantastic adventure,
full of improbable, illogical events.

The Doctor frowned again, at the
memory of the Master treating his pre-
cious TARDIS as if it were his own.

How had he gained entry in the first
place? Where had he acquired those
mysterious morphotic powers he had
made use of so freely?

Useless to speculate, decided the
Doctor. He would never know the an-
swers now. Probably no-one did.

He looked around the TARDIS control
room, now restored to its classic simplic-
ity. While roundelled walls, and the many-
sided control console with its central col-
umn. A few old fashioned chairs, an
antique lable, a hat-stand, a tall column
with the statue of a bird on top. Some-
how, restoring things to their original sim-
plicity had helped to erase the lingering
taint of the Master’s presence.

The Doctor stood up abruptly, sud-
denly troubled. Better make one final
check - justto make sure that none of the
Master's malignant influence remained.

The Doctor left the TARDIS control
room and made his way to the cloister
room. He paced slowly along the pillared
walkways and crossed the stone-flagged
square, entering the massive central

ible energy source powered all Gallifrey
— including all the TARDISes with which
the Time Lords voyaged through space
andtime. Evenanantiquated Type Forty,
like this one, was directly linked to the
Eye.

The Doctor studied the Eye for a mo-
ment longer. Everything was in order.
The Eye was closed, as it should be.
Except...

In the stone corner of the closed Eye,
something gleamed like a tear. The Doc-
torleanedforward to study it more closely.

Itwas solid, notliquid, like atiny gleam-
ing diamond. Surely it must irritate the
Eye? Like those gritty fragments children
call ‘sleep’, that they sometimes find in
their eyes upon awakening.

The Doctor leaned closer still and the
little diamond blazed even brighter. It
glowed and burned and spun itself into a
bolt of pure energy that lashed out and
upwards and flashed into the Doctor’s
eyes, searing across his brain. The Doc-
tor staggered back, his hand to his eyes,
and crashed to the ground...

As he fell, he heard a mocking voice.

“Always one last trap, Doctor. All's ill
that ends ill..."

The Doctor spiralled down into black-
ness with the Master's mocking laughter
in his ears...

Terrance Dicks
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OR l G I NS: As recounted in The Fifth Doc-

tor Handbook, the first serious move 1o put wheels in
motion for a 20th anniversary special took place on July
2181 1981, In a memo 1o Head of Senes David Reid,
Producer John Nathan-Turmer proposed moving Doc-
tor Who back 10 an Autumn start in 1983, Aware thai
Scason 19 was being pegged for Tuesday and Wednes-
day night ransmissions, he had calculated that Wednes-
days in November 1983 would include the all-important
date of November 23rd — the china anniversary of the
world's longest-running science-fiction series.
Mathan-Tumer used the prospect of including
an anniversary special serial, akin to The Turee Doc-

30/06/82 John Nathan-Tumer writes to Jon Pertwee
10 inform him of the impending repeat of Tre Cunse o
PeLanow inthe Doctor Who and the Monsters season
14/07/92 Jon Penwee replies to John Nathan-Tumer,
stating that he hopes repeats of his old siories will
become something of a habit, adding *| seem 1o have
been re-bom in the ayes of the public as Doctor Who™.
He goes on o suggest — with plenty of prior notice —
doing another “three” or “four” Doctors-type story
John Nathan-Tumer has already discussed the
posibiity with Patrick Troughton, who coincidently
also wntas lo John Nathan-Tumaer on the same day
He informs the Producer thal Granada TV have an
option on him for April, May and June 1983 John
Nathan-Tumer's original production dale was April
but Troughton adds that he doesn't want 1o miss the
Doctor Who story i possible

16/07/82 David Reid (Head of Series/Serials, Drama
Televison) writes to John Nathan-Turner 1o inform him
that he has the go ahead lor the Docior Who special 1o
be a 90-minute programme “to give you time 1o use all
the Doctors in the way you would like 10",

roes in 1973, as the main lever in his
argument 1o Reid. Privately, his motives
were driven by a general dishike of the
wice-weekly Spring slots currently al-
located 10 the show, and a confidence
that he could pull off a mass assembly of
familiar faces from Doctor Who's long
history 1n one production. Ever since
assuming the mantle of Producer, Nathan-
Turner had made a point of attending
every Doctor Who convention his sched
ules would allow, and of getting 1o know
as many of the regular cast as possible
By 1981 he had become an unofficial
agent for many of them, negotiating their
fees withconvention organisers and prod-
vet designers alike. A fundamenial ques-
ton he always asked concemed thear
willingness to reprise their roles in the series for guest appearances
Some, like Peter Purves and Maureen O Brien, gave an emphatic no,
but in the main the responses were positive, depending, of course, on
other contructual commitments at the time

David Reid replied 1o Nathan-Turner's memo on August 25th
The request for a slot move was turned down, due in the main to a
belief that Peter Davison’s comedy series, Sink or Swim would run
to i third series. If that was to happen the production schedules for
Sink or Swim would require a severe shift 10 accommodate Doctor
Who, and as comedy traditionally out-ranked drama senes i pro-
duction hierarchy this was refused pomnt-blank by BBC'1 Controlier
Alan Hart

Nevertheless Han was receptive 1o
the idea of a special show o mark the
2th anniversary, and it was he who
suggested the format of a 90-minute TV
movic.

The big hurdle 10 overcome was cost
Within the show" s operating bud
was nominally enough money to fund 28 episodes. This had been the
structure of Season 18, and Season 19, although 26 episodes long. had
funded K9 and Company as well. If Season 20 was to run similarly
26 episodes, then production costs would theoretically be feasible, if
very tight, for a 90-minute special. The problem was the guest cast

Nathan-Tumer and Script-Editor Enc Saward's imnial idea was
to bring back each of the surviving Doctors and pair them with one
companion from each era. The barest minimum would therefore be
eight guest stars, ten plus if additional “B” ranked artists were 10 be
engaged 10 play one-ofl principle roles. BBC Enlerprises was one
avenue Nathan-Turnerexplored. In correspondence and during meet-
ings with Head of Enterprises Bryon Parkin to discuss arrangements
forthe Longleat extravaganza, he brought up the subject of how much
money the BBC's commercial arm was raking in now from sales of
Doctor Who episodes and related merchandise, principally to the
United States. They discussed the then radical notion of Enterprises
sponsoring some of Doctor Whao's production costs, but although
Parkin was sympathetic und supportive of the idea, both men realised
putting the structure and paperwork in place 1o do this would not be
possible in time to help the anniversary movie. Eventually Alan Han
was able 1o bring in the additional finance although, according 1o his
memoirs published by Marvel Comics, John Nathan-Turner was
unaware of the deal struck a1 the time. By the early Eighties co-
production deals with other countries had become a well established
practice, especially with television companies based in Australia
Terms were very straightforward. In return for funding the sponsor
could first-run air the production for nothing. and receive a big
discount on the syndication rights. Additionally, if the production
was sald to other stations world-wide, proceeds and profits would be
divided between BBC Enterprises and the sponsor. It was an attrac
tive proposition for sponsors. They got to cherry-pick shows they
believed would be popular and which would attract advertising, and
they got to secure the exclusive syndication rights in their own
countries. For BBC Television co-production brought in much
needed extra cash, but the penalty was having 1o split profils on
potentially lucrative overseas sales — which is why regular co-
funding of the highly saleable Doctor Who series was not tendered
duning the Eighties

Co-sponsors of the anniversary special would be the ABC
Network in Australia whose other telefantasy ventures had been
David Maloney's Day of the Triffids scrial in 1981 and, two years
later, season two of the Tripods saga. Although verbal agreements
were made as early as May 1982, the physical cash, about 60,000
Australian dollars, was not “in the bank” until almost exactly a vear
later— but it was enough to cover both the costs of a substantial guest

cast and an extended flm budget CMS own Freesheer news
publication gave the first firm repon of John Nathan-Turmer s plans
for the special show in June 1982, along with @ hint from the Radio
Times semor Editor, Pat Canhy, that a 20th apniversary Doctor
Who special publication might also be on the carcs. The only task
now was 1o put together the most ambitiously planned Doctor Who
story of all time

SCRIPT: By June 1982 certmin parameters

for the series were already in place. The current Doctor
would have Tegan and Turlough as his companions, bul
not Nyssa as Sarah Sutton’s contract was no 1 be
renewed after its expiry at the end of the year. Carnle
Ann Ford was confirmed to play Susan alongside whom-
ever landed the pan of the first Doctor, No longer a
working actress she devoted her time 10 raising her
children and supporting her hushand's fashion trade
business. Approached by Nathan-Tumer o 3 Doctor
Whe convention she enthusiastically gave commitment
toappear i the special, For the other Doctors Jamie and/
or Victona were the prefermed choices to actompany
Doctor 2 and Lethbndge-Stewart plus Jo Grant 10 ac
company Doctor 3. Origimally Nathan-Tumer had hoped
for Lalla Ward to appear alongside her hushand, reuniting Romana
2 with Doctor 4, buton May 15t 1982 most of the wbloids carried an
announcement that Ward and Tom Baker had officially separated
dueto a breakdown in their | 6-momth old marriage. Aware that Tom
Baker would be the hardest challenge of all to bring into the special
Nathan-Turner sounded out the availability of Baker's favourite
assistant, sabeth Sladen, during early meetings with her o
discuss K*9 and Company.

For the villains Nathan- Turner favoured The Master while Erie
Saward was happy about the wdea of ingluding his personal favourntes
the Cybermen, Both men had rejected the Daleks due tothe special’s
large provision for location flming versus the eternal problems of
moving Daleks over rough terrain. To write the senal Saward told
a reluctant Nathan-Tumer he wanted the services of Robert Holimes
and was adamant aboat his reasons, as he told Gary Leigh in an
interview for DWE:- By this time 1"d watched many old tapes and
I"d discovered the Hinchchiffe penod. of which Robert Holmes was
not only Editor, he'd also written some of it | then saw Tor Taross
of Wena-Criano which | thought was absolutely wonderful, [t was
everything | thought Doctor Who should be; funny, exciting.
cracking ententamment. | realised that Bob Holmes was by (ar and
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away the best, but John didn’t want Boband resisted each time | asked
Tor hin T think he frightened him!"” Saward persisted until evenually
Nathan-Turner agreed (o a meeting in June 1982, Eventhen it was not

plain sailing as the DWB interview went on to tell

‘1 remember

when Bob walked imo the office. He was a big man, an ex-policeman
and he still had that presence, | think he looked at John and 1 and
thought, "Crikey, a couple of real jerks here!” He shouldn't have
made it so obvious, but we were being silly about what we wanted in

the story._.. Bob sai
and | like creating

ginal characters’

“Forget it, the Cybermen don't work very well,

We said we'd commission

him to do it but he said he wasn't certain he could make the story
work. John was furious that Bob had the audacity 1o say he wasn'l

happy inthis honest and outspoken way

24/08/82 Robert Holmes rings Eric Saward 1olet him
know his broad outline for the storyline, but voices
concermns about the project. Saward writes 1o Holmes
that same day, asking for a copy of the scene break-
down o be sent to him a day belore their planned
mealing on September 1si “so John and | can digest
whal you have done.” Saward also writes (0 Terance
Dicks the same day, Informing him that Helmes was
struggling with his storyline. Saward would preler to
sfick with Holmes, but asks Dicks to wait until after the
meeling before a decision is taken to persevere or to
approach Dicks formally for his ideas for a story
02/09/82 Saward again writes to Terrance Dicks,
saying that they have decided to let Roben Holmes
write the first 20 minutas of the scripl, even though
Holmes was siill having “huge reservations™ about
whather he could accomplish anything. Saward asks
Dicks if he is prepared 1o wait another 2 weeks hatore
a final decision

09/09/82 Robert Holmes writes 1o Eric Saward, stat-
Ing that he has heard about & writer called Andrew
Ryssick who apparently has an idea for a story which
wauld involve all the Doctors. Holmes goes on to state
that for cbvious reasons he doesn’l wanl! to know any
story details, but thinks Saward should investigate
further. As Holmas says “after all, he may have an
absolute craker of an idea that will prove far more
suitable than our own laborious contrivance”. [t seems
Saward does make lentative enquiries with Ryssick's
agenl, although nothing more Is ever discussed.
13/10/82 Robert Holmes and Enc Saward maet
Holmes announcas that he is unable to proceed any
further with his script for the special

14/10/82 Eric Saward writes to Robert Holmes, say
ing that ha 1s sorry that Holmes cannot continue with
his script, but suggests thal a straigh!-forward 4-parter
may be more to Holmes's taste

Despite the coolness of that
es accepted the chal-
lenge and over the course of the next
month assembled three possible
storylines, of which the one that gained
most favour has been reproduced in full
as part of The Fifth Docter Handbook
That storyline, Tue Six Docroms, in-
cluded an explanation as to why the first
Doctor would not look exactly like
William Hartnel); because he was essen
tially a cyborg imposter... A full story
breakdown was commissioned on Au-
4th, but ¢ven then both writers had
misgivings over the prospects of suc-
cess. Holmes felt encumbered by all the
characters he had 1o include, while
Saward felt the plot, although adequate
was plodding — “..as il his hean was
not really in it,”

Mulling the problem over in his head
that weekend Saward came 10 the con
clusion it would be a good idea 10 have
another storyline pending in reserve. To
write it he picked it
Doctor Who history 1o have writlen
scrapt dialogue and/or novelisation ma
tenal for all five of the Time Lord's
incamations: Terrance Dicks. Saward
phoned Dicks™ north London home that
Sunday, only 10 be told he was attending
a Doctor Who Fan Club of America
convention in New Orleans. Undeterred
he called the hotel in Amenca, forget-
ting there was a sia hour time difference

first meeting, Holm

gust

s one author from

waking the former Script Editor from his
slumbers long before the dawn chorus
Possibly as a result of the previous

eing's party-going Temrance Dick
gave his verbal cement o the job
there and then, applying more detulled

thoughts during his plane joumey back
to England on how so many characters
could be integrated effectively into on
production

September 151 was the dute Saward
Nathan-Tumer and Robent Holmes pext
met o review the scene breakdown th
latter had put (ogether. By this
Dicks had submitted & basic plotline bul
had got no funther. Atthe meeting Holmes

02  Jobn Nathan: Tutnet writes to William Hart-
noll s widow Heather about Tur S Doctoss. He states
that ha plans 10 use w clips of Hartnell from oid

jos, and also that he plans to re-cast the pan of

ol Doctor. Me goes on 1o assure Heather that the

project will be approached in “the best possible taste”,
anct ks that i willt 1 obwinus al the begining

that 1his Do and one of the prob-

) % hirve o lace is to unmask the

akied the opportunity o invite her to

e

i 20th ry Convenbon al Longleal House
aarly the ooy ] A
06/09M2 Heathoar Harnall reples to John Nathan-

Turrt nbang him fo lstier, and adding that she
to tha lirst Doctor being re-cast. She

O agreas 10 altend ihe Longleal Convention

has no obyection

renerated his own doubts about the project bul wis persuaded o
attempt the first twenty minutes of seripled sction, A evised scene
breakdown plus a sample script was delivered on October 13th

dying both documents, Saward reluctantly concluded the matenial
by Holmes just was nol working, and Dve days laler a formal

commission went oul o Termanoe Dicks Tor a full scenic bre

of his idea. By all sccounts Holme
project. Ind
storyline,

ovided 0 ¢
monsters and characterns

wits hol dismayed an leaving

W
the

«d he intimated he would be happy to submit another
wild be withoul the encumbrance of old
A link to e future had been forged

Dropping the notion of the first Doctor being an android Dicks

christened his storyline

Ve Five Doctors and delivered its break-

down on November Ist A seript commission followed on the [6th
and o completed first drafl was sent in on December 20th, and

accepled January 27th 1983

SCRIPT-EDITING: .. .

enced Senpt-Editor himself, Dicks was more under-
stunding than most of the problems facing any Doctor
Whe, let alone an anniversary special with so many
known faces who might have to be written in or written
out al a moment's notice, The line-up of principle
characters 1ook some thought. Saward and Nithan-
Turner's votes were (o keep the Doctors separated as
lomg as possible, bringing them together only at the very
end of the show. This was with the aim of averting a
possible clash of egos between the lead actors. Tom
Baker especially was known not to favour appearing
with his other *selves’, but Terrance Dicks’ long expe-
rience canvinced the pair that while there might be some




INTERVIEW

PERFECT DICKS-ION

Atop the filing cabinet in TERRANCE DICKS’ office stand porcelain statu-
eftes of three War Games Time Lords. Resplendent in their stark white and
black gowns they are graven memoria not only to the vast contribution DICKS
has made to the field of Doctor Who literature, but also to the enduring
creations he and Malcolm Hulke devised as far back as 1969. Thirteen years
on the descendants of these three figures were exhumed as once more their
creator returned to breathe new life into an established legend.

“IT ALWAYS had 1o involve the Time Lords’ ponders
Terrance Dicks, reflecting on events he himself brought
into motion, shaping the pinnacle of 1983's celebrations
of Doctor Who's twenty years.

"Any occasion where you're called on to bring the
Doctors together has to involve the concept of moving
them through Time. The Time Lords, by their very
nature, are the only people to have this kind of technol-
0gy, S0 it was more or less inevitable that any idea | came
up with would have to incorporate the Doctor’s own
people in some way.

“As I think everyone knows THE Five Doctors
started for me with a phone call very early one morning
while | was still getting over a very exuberant party ['d
been to the night before at a convention in New Orleans
The caller was Eric Saward who, forgetting there was a
time difference between England and the USA, was
phoning me with the terribly exciting news that they
wanted me to write the special. In one way it was
tremendous as it gave me quite a scoop to tell fans later
that morning at the convention. More sobering. once |
was back in England, was realising just what 1 had
agreed to take on.

“In those days I was still working on Classic Serials
forthe BBC, so it was quite easy for me to pop down two
floors whenever | wanted 1o 1alk to Eric or he wanted to
talk 1o me. Before | even got started 1 had a call from
Eric. “There’s something we should tell you. Bob
Holmes is actually working on a storyline 100, and what
we thought was if you and Bob could cach write a
storyline apiece and then we could decide which one we
liked best

“Frankly, 1 didn’t think much of this. 1 said it wasn’t
the way you should treat a writer like Bob Holmes and,
come to think of it, it wasn't the way you should treat a
writer like me either! So I asked 1o make up their minds.
“If you can offer me the job’, I said, ‘I'll be very happy
to do 1t, but otherwise you must go with Bob.

“Matters were then left for a week after which - and
I stress this is only hearsay on my part - Bob, who didn’t
like a lot of interference and didn't like things constantly
changing, eventually got so fed up with the whole
situation that he left the project. Eric then came back to
me and said, ‘We'd like you to write the anniversary
show!"

“The BBC must then have commissioned me. What
they had at that stage was tacit agreement from certain
members of the cast that they would appear. All the
surviving Doctors had said yes, and they planned to have
a double for William Hartnell and two or three of the
campanions had signed up. among them Anthony Ainley
I then did a storyline, which they promptly rejected. in
which the Master tumed out to be the villain. Eric
Saward said, quite rightly, *Come on, it’s not going to be
a big surprise to anybody if the villain turns out to be the
Master’.

“So I went off and worked out another storyline,
under great pressure | might add. 1 remember they rang
me up to say the deadline was very close and they stll
hadn't seen anything from me. They even asked if they
could see my notes to which the reply was a firm “No’
I was not prepared to show them anything unnl | was
reasonably satisfied with it myself. Also, 1o be honest,
I'still hadn’t got that much to show. Eventually, ina very
last minute way, I evolved the rough outline of the Game
of Rassilon, the Doctor being kidnapped. and the villain

turning out o be Borusa.

“l knew the villain had to be a major figure, because
when you have a story of such significance, your villain
can't just be the third Time Lord from the left. 1 had
worked outarationale that Borusa, who had always been
seen as benevolent, was going power-mad and thinking,
‘1 know what's best for Gallifrey, and what's best for
Gallifrey is if 1 ruled it forever'. My dilemma was what
then to do with the Master if he wasn't going 1o be the
main culprit, and out of that came the twist of him being
sent by the Time Lords to rescue the Doctor.

“Borusa I chose because he seemed best suited from
the Gallifrey pantheon once 1'd accepted Eric’s point
that the Master could not be the main villain. Really 1
was following Bob's tradition of showing the High
Council riddled with intrigue and scheming. Malcolm
Hulke and Loriginally devised the Time Lords as remote,
mystic figures. Bob who. never liked remote, superior,
god-like alien races of the type you always see on Star
Trek, decided 1o demystfy them. And it was a develop-
ment 1 was quite happy to go along with.

“My next problem was how to bring all the Doctors
together. We had already used in The

HREE Docrors the
ploy of some crisis so great that only the Doctor in all his
selves could solve it. So I couldn’t play that one again.
What eventually brought it all wgether was a mental
image that came into my mind of a gloved hand placing
afigure of the Doctor ona game board. The black gloved
hand of the player. Inother words, it would all be a game
- the Game of Rassilon - in which all the protagonists, the
Doctors. the assistants and the monsters would be pieces
on a board.

“The Cybermen | was lumbered with, basically be-
cause Eric Saward seemed to have a passion for
Cybermen. | wasn’t nearly so keen on them myself,
which might be why I subconsciously took every oppor-
tunity to slaughter them whenever | could. They are
supposed to be cold and emotionless but in fact they re
neurotic and hysterical, going into screaming rages if
anyone frustrates them. Soare the Daleks, whose innate
reaction to anything going wrongis lospinround inever-
decreasing circles yelling. ‘Out of control, out of con-
trol!”

“Mind you, | did argue, successfully. that we had to
have Daleks in a celebration special about Doctor Who
Grudgingly 1 was allowed one! Similarly K«9. Origi-
nally John and Eric did not want to feature K«9. While
1 agreed we did not want to be lumbered with the beast
for the whole show, | pointed out there were thousands
and thousands of younger fans out there who would
expect o see him

“The Doctors I had no problems writing for as they
are all clear characters in my head from having written
so many of the Target novels. I know how they talk and
| know how they think. The only one I did have to
research a linle was Peter Davison, due 10 my having
drifted away from watching the series so consistently
after Tom had left. Whenever [ could 1 put in Hartnell-
y expressions or Troughton-y bits. but | found there isn’t
suchaclear Davison line of character other than this Kind
of wry, undersiated, self-deprecating humour and a
distinct lack of flamboyance when compared with the
others. But what Bob Holmes once said is very true; the
Doctor is always the Doctor. You always write for the
Doctor the same way and leave it to the actor Lo person-
alise the role.

“I had more problems with the companions. Essen-
tially this boiled down to giving them enough to do. The
ones | do think, in retrospect, got short changed were
Turlough and Susan, the pair who got stranded in the
TARDIS. Susan at least got a twisted ankle, which was
my homage to Terry Nation, People in Terry Nation
slomes are always twisting thewr ankles, vsually at some
moment of extreme crisis. Originally 1 had planned to
include a scene of Susan being picked up by the time-
scoop from the ruins of London after the Dalek invasion,
but this was one of the elements which had 10 be
sacrificed on the altar of cost. 1 remember being mildly
annoyed by this as it left the viewer with no rational
explanation for why she should be on Gallifrey in the
first place. (There 15 a Susan kidnap scene mn the
novelisation)

“Another idea dropped was of actually showing the
Brigadier's retirement party from UNIT. Because of the
number of extras this would involve, the scene was
changed to sometime after the party, Likewise the
Auton sequence with Sarah, which was perhaps over-
ambitious, although to my mind the replacement ‘slope
hanger' scene just did not work. T wasn't 100 happy
cither that Jon Pertwee hijacked what was onginally
Sarah’s line about him becomng “all teeth and curls’. |
gol the blame from the Fans because the Pertwee Doctor
shouldn’thave known that. Again, that is putright in my
novelisation

“The real bombshell was Tom's late decision not 1o
appear, although 1 feel ultimately this  benelited the
story. | had planned that Borusa would eventually arrive
at the Tower with the fourth Doctor, whom you were
meant 1o suspect must have gone over to the other side
Butit worked better with Peter, although found it harder
1o make convincing the idea of has Doctor tuming bad.
You could accept it with Tom, who has a dark side
anyway, but Peter’s Doctor is just too decent - after all,
he plays cricket!

“But it was right for the swory to end with the weight
of the drama carried by the current Doctor, Talso wanted
1o make it clear that Rassilon’s motives were ultimately
good, that the Game of Rassilon was there specifically as
a lure for over-ambitious Time Lords. Anyone who
wanted immortality mustn’t get !

“Overall, I'm very pleased with the way the show
turned out. Even the last minute re-write, when we lost
Tom, actually tightened up the script.  About ninety
percent of what 1 had written reached the screen, which
is pretty good for TV

“The last lines of the show go like this:-

TEGAN: You mean to say you're deliberately choosing
to go on the run from your own people in a racketty old
TARDIS?

DOCTOR: Why not? After all, that's how it all stared

“John Nathan-Turner tells me that when this was
recorded, all the studio techmicians cheered. [ only wish

I'd been there.” @

The Five Doctors
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friction durmg rehearsals, it would be all nght on the night

Early casualtics, before even scripting began, were the preferred
Troughton compamons, Deborah Watling had a stage engagement
and some filmed sketches booked for The Dave Allen Show which
would preclude her from any location work, while Fraser Hines was
still employed shooting Emmerdale Farm full ime. Wendy Padbury
had indicated she was available, but her announced state of preg-
nancy in 1983 ultimately ruled out any mvolvement in strenuous
location o studio bouts. Eventually it wasdecided 1o include Victona
among the guest “celebrities” appearing in the corndors of the Death
Tower, Late in the day though, The Dave Allen Show shifted its
filming dates (due. ironically, to effects from the long running 1982
Electrician’s strike ) toco-incide with recording of The Five Docross
S0 Deborah Watling had to drop out and a hasty re-write substituted
Fraser Hines,

The major loss, and cavse of the biggest re-write was Tom
Baker's abrupt decision not to appear. On Tuesday Tth December
1982, while Tony Virgo's team were filming The Kiva's Demoss,
John Nathan-Turner had visited Baker at the Theatre Royal, Baghton,
where he was starning in a production of Educating Rita, to show him
the first 70 pages of script and to affirm his commitment to appear in
the special. From that meeting the Producer emerged convinced
Baker had said yes to the scheme, and his response was duly
communicated 10 Terrance Dheks Ten days later, however, the
Production Office ook a call from Tom Baker's agent who insisted
her client had not consented to appear, and indeed had decided on
reflection, and duc 1o personal feelings about Dector Whe in
general, it would be better for his career not 1o.

Not only was this a blow 1o the script, it also meant a major
rethink of the character alignments. Sarah no longer had anyone o
ally with, so she was assigned 1o Jon Pertwee. That moved the
Brigadier over w0 Troughton, which conveniently overcame the
problem of his three companions being unable to appear in primary
capacities.

Right from the beginming Nathan-Tumer had decided he wanted
10 use some stock foatage of William Hartnell's Doctor. In the event
a short extract from the Fraswpony episode of Tue Dacek Invasion
oF EARTH was used to provide a pre-credils opening sequence, but this
was not what Terrance Dicks had i mind at first. Remembering
footage they had shot of Harmoell in 1972 for Tue Tarese Docrogs, he
wrote the following esiablishing scene in the Game Control Room:-

“We are in a secret, long forgotten
control room, its atmosphere sinister and
evil. For the moment all we see are black
gloved hands, operating controls. The
egquipment includes a monitor screen and
tuning controls, and is in fact a
Timescoop.
*A picture appears on the Timescoop
screen, distorted at first, then clear-
ing. We see a whire-haired old man in a
frock coat — the Hartnell Doctor. The
picture blurs, changes and changes again,
as the Timescoop operator scans the
Doctor‘s time stream. (At this point,
in this way, we run all the Hartnell
material we wish to incorporate). The
picture changes for the last time and we
see a close shot of the old man, seen
from behind as he tends a rose bush, We
close in on the monitor and go into;
(From this point on we shall be using the
Hartnell double, though for simplicity we
will continue to call him the Hartnell
Docror). The Harrtnell Doctor potters
contentedly about amongst his roses,
pausing to trim or prune a bush...~

The black gloved hand Dicks had intended at first should belong
to the Master, but he acknowledged Saward’s valid criticism early on
that this would be o casy for the andience at home 10 guess, and
changed his identity to Borusa. Other pure Dicks additions to the plot
were the Time Lords and the Daleks, whom he felt had to be
represented in a 20-year celebration, K+9, because he liked the
character, Yeti and Autons, although the former was a late-in-the-day
rename for a previously generic monster in the cave, and some
dialogue quips. “Wonderful chap, all of them” was retread of a line
by the Brigadier in The Turee Docrors, as was the supposed rivalry
between the Doctor’s incamations. “Mine was prefty unpromising
oo™ muses the Troughton Doctor on meeting Lethbridge-Stewart’s
successor, Brigadier Charles Crichton, at the handover drinks party
which the script dates as 1983, The reference 1o Zodin, however, was
added by Saward, sadly 100 late for its inclusion in the novelisation.

Saward also reworked Doctor 2's comment to Doctor 3 in The
Tumnee Doctoks about doing the TARDIS up abit, “1don’tlike it” was
the droll put-down. Saward liked the line so much be repeated it as
Doctor 2's comment to the Brigadier about the redecoration of UNIT
HQ. One other hark back Dicks intended was Crichton’s picking up
and opening a UNIT file marked ‘The Doctor’, discovering it, as per
The Craws oF Axos, to be empty. Instead Saward’s quip between
Crichton and his Sergeant, ""That was the Doctor”, “Doctor... who?"
was substituted. As late as the rewrite dated February 2nd 1983 the
identity of Crichton’s number two was still Sergeant-Major Benton,
The cost of flying John Levene out from his new home in the USA
— as well as Katy Manning over from Australia for that matter —
ultimately precluded their inclusions in the final version of the script

and

As originally scripted for Sergeant Benton, the scene ran as follows
as two points:
CRICHTON: There's one chap we tried to
get hold of... What was his name?... He
used to be your scientific adviser.

BENTON: The Doctor.

CRICHTON: That's right.

BRIGADIER: Wonderful chap. All of them.
And later. ..

(THE BRIGADIER AND THE DOCTOR LEAVE)

CRICHTON: Who was that strange little

man?

BENTON (SMILING): The Doctor.

One page Saward completely rewrote was Doctor | and Susan’s
reaction to seeing the Dark Tower through the hole blasted in the
mock Dalek city wall. In Dicks’ original version Susan clearly has no
knowledge of the Time Lords’ home world:-

DOCTOR: The Dark Tower!

SUSAN: Doctor, where are we? What's going
on? Why were we brought here?

DOCTOR; A simple, but formidable list of

questions, my dear, of which I
answer the first.

SUSAN: Well?

DOCTOR: We're on my heme planet, Galli-

frey. In an area known as the Death Zane.
The answers to your other questions lie

somewhere in that Tower.

City-scapes featured largely even tn Dicks” final draft of the
story. Doctor 2 and the Brigadier are described as being deposited by
the obelisk in “An area of ruined. derelict. gutted buildings looming
and sinister. A strange distoried, Dali-esque city-scape shrouded in
heavy fog.” Deleted completely, and undoubtedly for budget rea-
sons, was the original filmed scenario for Sarah’s rescue by Doctor
3 which took place in the ruins of a suburban high street -

*Frightened and confused, Sarah is
stumbling along a4 street — a strange
surrealist of half-wrecked build-
ings. She sees that one of them is a
ruined shop, Mannequins are scattered
about., looking eerily like corpses. Sarah
stumbles against one, and for a moment
thinks it is a dead body. She leans to
examine it and smiles in relief. Suddenly
it sits bolt upright, reaching for her
hroat... Sarah reams and jumps back.
e turns and runs — straight into
another mannequin reaching out for her.
She dodges round it, but now the other
mannequins — all Autons — have come to
life and are encirc They stalk
menacingly towards Suddenly the

can only

street

s
er

Pertwee Doctor zooms along the street in
and stops.
Quick, Sarah-Jane, get in!
jumps in and e Pertwee Doctor
off. The Autons stretch out their
hands drop back on hinges to
reveal guns. They open fire, but by now

the

little car is
street, energy bol
i The car reache
ruined street and
a road-block. The
Sarah leap out
broken planks and

g-zagging down the
exploding all around
far e of the
its way barred by
Pertwee Doctor and
removing the
bble which make up
the barrier. Autons move in and attack
them. Sarah and the Pertwee Doctor fight
them off using bits of barricade as
weapons. They return to clearing the
road-block.
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quence, the two flying along beneath a kite fashioned from the
Doctor's cape strung over a frame of spears taken from the arsenal
of the Raston Robot. Fearful that neither budget nor the combined
talents of Visual and Electronic Effects plus Set Design would be
able 10 accomplish this convincingly. Saward altered the whole
scene to focus it around a makeshift breeches buoy contraption. The
line 1o the ower roof would be fired over by the Doctar who
successfully constructs a makeshift bow and arrow from spare
harpoons and cable taken from the Raston Robot's arsenal

The phantom scenes in the cormidors of the Dark Tower were
very difficult w script. Basically no-one would know until virtually
the last minute how many guest cameos would be available, nor how
many whatever budget was left over would afford. In the end four
were contracted: Jamie McCrimmon, Zoe Herriot, Liz Shaw and
Mike Yates. As contingency in case none could be afforded, Saward
contrived a standby phantom sequence featuring only the artists
they had 1o hand:-

(BUT THE PERTY

THE CORN

co
head,

has

J Sarah-J Come iy
Terrance Dicks used the opportunity of Rassilon’s first, and 10
date only, appearance in the series (o inject a small continuity bridge
between the Time Lords of the Pertwee/Troughton eras and those of
Tom Baker and beyond periods. This is
manifests as a

C our guard,

= .

The final rewrite of all bears a script revision date of March 10th
1983 and is the phantom sequence featuring Zoe and Jamie. By this
point filming rehearsals were already complete and the unit was on
location in Wales. Even the Director had no idea of all the material
he would be required (o shoot in the studio. The scenes in the Dark
dated to 24.3 83, and the sequence with Mike Yates and
Liz Shaw is basically as it appears on screen, but as mentioned
earlier. Victorin was replaced by Jamic late in the day but with
minimal dialogue changes. A major change is 10 how the Doctor
realises he has been fooled, Here is the scripted sequence

Towera

eq 1 i Decame aill

xity of mounting this scene, coupled withthe

Thecostand comple
absence of ruined high streets around the chosen locations, ruled this
whole section out, replaced by a simpler but less credible rescue of

Sarah from a sheer drop precipice she had missed in the fog. The
transfer of the reference to “all curls und teeth™ was tiated by

Pertwee who felt it was a funmier line than any he had in that scene
eliberate piece of fun by Dicks was the Castellan’s reaction
g told he would face interrogation by the Mind Probe. “Oh no,
not the mind probe!™ had been such & wr melodramatic OTT
F 1 the set of Frontier in Space that he could nol resist the
temptation 1o irs later. Neither could he resist
giving Pentwee one last opportunity to reverse the polanty of the
¢ neutron fow. Another yield to tempration was the inevitable Sixties/
Seventies ploy of having at least one companion fall and twist an

ankle. In this case it was Susan who lost the 1oss
The method by which Doctor 3 and Sarah reach the Dark Tower's
observation balcony was rigorously altered due to the logistics of
Dicks” original suggestion. He had imagined a hang gliding se-

The Five Doctors
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writes to

1/82 John Nathan-Tumner asks that Malcolm
n be assigned as the story's designer. He also
the Manager of Series and Se

DIRECTORANDTEAM:

To fit in with his sense of occasion, John Nathan-
Turner wanted to bring the series full circle and use the
Director of An Uneuarthly Child to oversee The Five
Doctors. He contacted Waris Hussein's agent towards

the end of November 1982 only to receive a firm “No™
by mid-December. Piqued by this rebuttal Nathan-
Tumer removed Hussein's name from the list of those
who were to be invited to a special dinner party, hosted
by BB ment, 1o commemorate the
20nh anniversary of Doctor Whaoin 1983, Learning of
the event Hussein neve

SCTIOT Man.

eless turned up on the night
and, by dint of his impressive credentials, successfully
gate-crashed the party
Second choice was the series’ longest serving
and most revered Director of all time, Douglas Camfield. Despite
constant promises to himsell not w0 go back, Camfield’s great
affection for Dector Who had prompted him to offer his services
John Nathan-Turner shortly after he had taken over the Producer’s
chair in 1980, To Camficld’s amazement and dismay, he received an
outright dismissal of his approach, together with a curt statement that
it was now policy to seek out new blood, instead of relying
established faces from the past. The hurt was still there when Nathan-
T'urner began making overtures about Tue Five Docrors in the wake
of Hussein's refusal. Agreeing to view a draft script Camfield
ultimately declined the invitation also, although he later admatted 1o
andiences at the NFT s Dactor Who: The Developing Art weekend
inOctober 1983 that deep down he would have enjoyed the challenge
of making it something memorable
Thut more or less lefl Nathan-Turner’s regular crop of preferred
Directors. A production slot of March 1983 was mandatory for the
special as it was the only time throughout late 1982 and vinually the
whole of 1983 when Patrick Troughton would be available. So, with
Peter Grimwade now “persona non grata' in the Producer’s eves, and
Fiona Cumming busy with past- production on Enlightenment, the
one remaining preferred choice was Pe
ter Moffunt, An actor turned Director, all
three of Moffatt's previous Doclor
Wheos, State oF Decay, THe Vismamion

als, proposing

Costume Department. As with Thornton, Lavers was recruited for the
special on the set of a previous Doctor Who. in this case Tue King'
Demons. Previously he had worked on Tie Power oF Krov and Four
10 Doosmspay, the latter giving him the chance to create a Doctor's
costume: Peter Davison's

Another veteran from the Kev to Time season was Make-up
Designer Jill Hagger, whose sole previous Doctor Who experience
wias ThE ANproiDs oF Tara back in 1978, The Make-up depaniment’s
responsibilities on Tue Five Docrors would be large, due to the
abnormal number of lead artists mvolved, but fortunately for Hagger,
little of her duties would involve really complex make-overs, and
nothing in the way of prosthet
Handling Visual Effects were John Brace and Mike Kelt. Of the
twio Kelt took no part in the day-1o-day production of this senial. His
involvement wus purely to design and oversee the building of the new
TARDIS interior; a long-overdue activity he had advocated strongly
10 the Producer during their time together on Kelt's previous Doctor
Who, Extciressent. Although costed to this production, in real
terms covering the expenditure for a new console would be amortised
throughout the coming year: this being the show's only “standing”
sel. John Brace had undergone his Doctor Who baptism of fire as
Richard Conway's assistant on The Serns oF Doos, Promoted 10 a
Designer in the lute Seventies he worked on several episodes of
Blake’s Seven as well as the Tom Baker serial, Fuie Clrev

Two final production velerans were the ever-presemt Dave
Chapman on Electronic Effects and Radiophonic Workshop com-
poserfarrunger Peter Howell, making his seventh contribution to a
Doctor Who production

As mentioned, production dates for
Tue Five Docrors in 1983 were geared

23/07/82 John Nathan-Tumer writes to Patrick

around Patrick Troughton™s availability
Already on his books for 1983 was a
second series of the TV drama Foxy
Lady and a major role in the BBC adap-
tation of John Masefield’'s children's
novel, The Box of Delights. Jon
Pertwee's participation was assured as
his panto season stage appearances in a
Worzel Gummidge musical were due to

Troughton, latting him know that the special has tha
go-ahead, and that production will now be in March
1983. He adds that he will contac! Troughton's agent
as soon as dates are confirmed. John Nathan-Turner
also writes 1o Jon Pertwese, telling him that he has
already discussed a possible special with Pertwee's
agent. Again, March/April is guoled as production
dates, with Johin Nathan-Turner adding *| am so pleased
that obviously you are very interasted ”

end in early February, Concerned at the fees Pertwee’s agent would
levy for his appearing in Doctor Who, John Nathan-Turner consid-
ered having Doctor 3 feature only in the studio-based scenes. Report-
edly it was Pertwee himsell who rang the Producer and offered to go
on location for no extra costs. Peter Davison's contract stipulated the
Doctor Who office had first refusal on his services — with the sole
exception of Sink or Swim — so only two question marks remained;
Tom Baker's participation, and the matter of who should play the first
Daoctor.

A popular suggestion amnong the fans,
and with Jon Pertwee, was Geoffrey
Bayldon, an actor with a penchant for
playing eccentric senior citizens, Bayldon
had done one Doctor Who in 1979, Tug
Creature rros THE Prr, but was best
known for his performances as

July 82 A fee-check on paymenls is camied out
examining which terms actors were paid for previous
BBC productions. Patnick Troughton's contract for
Cleopatra, Jon Pertwee's for The Goodies, Tom
Baker's lor The Hound of the Baskervilles, Richard
Humdall's for Blake's 7: A « and Plot to Murder
Lioyd George and Geoftrey Bayldon's for an episode
of Jullet Bravo are all compared,

Catweazle for LWT, and as the mysteri-
ous Crowman in Worzel Gummidge for
Southern Television. The Production Office checked out his fee rates
in July 1982, but by the antumn of that year another name had
2. lan Levine lays claim to having spotted Richard Hurndall
as o candidate first while replaying an episode of Blake's Seven
tally broadcast in November 1981, Nebrox was an elderly
gged character in the episode Assassiy, who gets killed half way
through the story. The scenes in a prison cell Levine recalls as the
moment where his imagination established a link with William
Hartnell’s Doctor, and he remembers phoning John Nathan-Tumer
almost immediately 10 tell him.

RICHARD HURNDALL: Bom 1911, Richard
Hurndall made his stage debut aged 19, the same year he
did his first radio work in a play called A Pantomime

1o use the project code “6K” due 1o the cancellation of
Eric Saward's Dalek story from season 20

02/12/82 John Nathan-Tumer engages Peter Moffatt
1o direct the special. He will be working on the project
from 17/01/82 to 13/05/82

1312/82 Peter Moftaft requests that Margotl Hayhoe
be allocated to the project as Production Manager
John Nathan-Turmer puts the request forward, adding
that Margot has the banelit 0l hawing worked with all 4
living Doctors

20/12/82 John Nathan-Turner writes 1o Waris
Hussein, expressing his regret that he was unable to
direct the special

and Mawnryn Uspean, had won favour-
and he had
¢ shows

able reviews among
impressive credentials forbrir
inon time and within budget

Another individual with an impres-
sive Doctor Who CV was Set Designer
Malcolm Thomton. Originally joining
the BBC only on a temporary contract in
May 1973, Thornton became a full-time
employee in 1973 as an assistant in the
Design Department. He won his De-
e four years later, justintime to

ans

signer

Rehearsal. He worked mainly on the stage during the
» role, as Lord Fancoun
Babberly in Charlev’s Auns, in 1937. He would later
name his least favourite role as Bassino in a 1940
adaptation of The Merchant of Venice at Stratford. After
the war he did his first feature film, The Magic Bow (1946)
as well as his first appearance on the fledgling BBC
television service, but Humdall’s mainstay was radio
Between 1949 and 1952 he was a permanent member of
the BBC Reperiory Company, and it was in 1949 that he
first met Patrick Troughton in a TV production of
Someane at the Door. West End stage roles included

Thires, landing his favoun

Highly Confidential, Hostile Witness, The Masters, The Affair and

work on Tom Baker's final story, Locorouss. The highly “kinetic
(i.e.: with lots going on...) exteriors he created for the Logopaolitan
city impressed Nathan-Turner, who asked for his services again in
Peter Davison's first year. He worked on Kinoa and would have been
respansible for Saward's Dalek senal, The Return, had it not been for
its cancellation by strike action. [t was at the poimt of this serial’s
cancellation that Nathan-Turmer asked Thormon if he would be
interested in tackling the special. He accepted, believing a 90-minute
TV movie withadditional funding would result in a greater spend and
more scope for set work. How wrong he was to be proved

Of the two Designers who did benefit from the extra cash
injection from Australia, the lion’s share went to Colin Lavers in the

Justice 1s @ Woman, while among film goers his biggest parts were in
the First World War picture Zeppelin (1971), opposite Michael York
and Anton Diffr and in Richard Lester's comedy Rayval Flash
(1975), Among his listof TV appearances are support roles in Philby,
Burgess & McClaine, Love in a Cold Climate, Whoedunnit (com-
pered by Jon Pertwee), Nanny, Oil Strike North (with Sarah
Sution), Bergerac, Enemy at the Door and, of course, Blake's
Seven, Accepting the challenge of playing the first Doctor, Hurndall
refused the loan of video tapes of Hartnell's performance. Remem-
bering Hannell’s mannenisms he said he preferred to incorporate
those into his own style of acting rather than trying to do a “"Mike
Yarwood impersonation of him”. His instincts were spot on. Hart

o
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nell’s widow, Heather, wrote John Nathan-Turner to say she ap-
proved of the choice, while Carole Ann Ford remembers being quite
startled hy how strong the resemblance was once Humndall was in full
make-up and costume

In support roles for Tue Fivie Docrors, Moffan and Nathan-
Turner were lucky in being able 10 persuade Paul Jerricho 1o reprise
his role of the Time Lord Castellan, first seen in Akc oF Inpinery
Playing Lethbridge-Stewan's replacement, Brigadier Crnichton, was
David Savile. Frequently cast as mulitary types, Savile 1s best remem
bered us First Officer in the BBC naval drama series Warship, or as
Lieutenant Carstairs in Patrick Troughton's bow-out Doctor Who
sertal, Tie War Games. The selection of Richard Mathews to play
Rassilon was Peter Moffatt’s, who remembered the actor’s ascerbic
vocal tones from an episode of the Granada TV series. The Lady
Killers, where he had played a judge. Also in reprise mode were a
gallery of Doctor Who veterans: David Banks and Mark Hardy
returning o their Earmisiock roles as Cyber-leader and Cyber
Licutenant, perennial Dalek voice Roy Skelon and Dalek operator
John Scoit Martin, stunt man Stuart Fell, and the definitive voice of
K+9, John Leeson. As well as all the regulars, the script and budget
had room for two more lead artists 1o play the High Council Time
Lady and Lord Borusa

1t had been hoped to recall Elspet Grey and Leonard Sachs to play
Thalia and Borusa (from Arc oF Inesimy ), but when both proved
unavailuble Peter Moffatt approved the hiring of Dinah Sheridan and
Philip Latham.
- DINAH SHERIDAN: Born 1920 in Hampstead
Garden Suburb, Dinah Sheridan trained at the Italia
Cont S Academy, and while still there landed one
of her earliest professional jobs. The task was 1o present
Picture Page. one of the first ever mugazine pro-
grammes (o be broadcast regularly by the fledgling
BBC Television Service in 1936, Futingly her daughter
Jenny Hunley (from her first marmage 1o actor Jimmy
Hanley ) also went on 1o become a TV magazine show
presenter, The majority of Dinah Shendan's roles have
been in films, beginning with Give My Heart in 1938
Ihereafier, from a very packed CV. selected gems
include Landshide. Father Steps Owt, Murder in Re
verse, Calling Paul Temple and Paul Temple Triumphs
The Sound Barrier. The Story of Gilhert & Sullivan, The
Raitway Children and The Mirrar Crack'd. Perhaps most famous of
all was her co-starning role i the 1953 comedy Genevieve. alongside
John Gregson and Kenneth More. On TV she has appeared in
Gallows Glorious, Winning Streak and. more recently. in Keeping
rances and Don't Wait Up, where Shendan played the
aracter of Angela Latimer
PHILIP LATHAM: A tremendously versatile actor
Latham was John Nathan-Tumer’ s choice to play Borusa,
fulfilling the Producer’s wish to recruit for Doctor Who
as many of the lead actors fram The Pallisers as he could
Latharn had played the lead role of Plantagenet Palliser
Bom in Leigh-on-Sea. January 1929, Latham became a
graduate of RADA before moving on to carve himself a
distinguished career on stage. TV and in movies_ In the
theatre he 1s best remembered for West End productions
of Gazebo. Missing Persons, The Lener and a highly
raled imerpretation of The Winslow Bay which went on
1o inspire 4 natonal wur. His film roles have encom-
passed a wide range of genres: thrillers hike Ring of Spies
and Spy Storv, wartime epics such as The Dambusters
The Last Grenade and Force 10 From Navarone, sexual
melodrama; The Wild and the Willing, science-fiction: Doppelganger,
swashbucklers: Devil Ship Pirates and The Secret of Blood Island, plus
a memorable co-starring role in Hammer's Dracila Prince of
Durkness. On 1elevision Latham’s talents have spread from playing
Pope John Paul 11 in a TV movie to presenting editions of Jackanory
In between have been a whole host of prestipe dramas and series,
including Maigret, When Kissing had to Stop, UFO. A Month in
the Country. The Cedar Tree, Wellington and Lives of our Own
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Absent Friends...

BEFORE looking at who was available for this
serial, itis worth mentioning those names who did
not make the party. Jacqueline Hill (Barbara
Whnght) had restarted her acting career inthe late
Seventies, having taken the best part of a decade
off to raise her family. Appearances in Angels
and Tales of the Unexpected had preceded her
guest return o Doctor Who in 1980, which was
not as Barbara but as the Deon Leader Lexa in
Flanagan/™cCulloch's four parter, MecLos. Hav-
ing settled a female companion for Doctor 1 early
onwith Carole Ann Ford, John Nathan-Turmer did
not feel he needed another. Jacqueline Hill went
on to appear in the prestige production of John
Maortimer's Paradise Postponed in 1985, which
was 10 be her last major TV appearance before a
long-term lliness forced her to retire from the field
in 1986. She died in 1983,

William Russell (lan Chesterton) had
reverted to using his real name, Russell Enoch
during the Seventies and was enjoying consider-
able success in the theatre when he was contacted by John Nathan-Turner about an
appearance in Mawoayn Unoeap. Due to prior work commitments with the Actor’s Touring
Company, he was nol iree to make the scheduled production dates. He was happy in
principle with the notion of reprising his role of lan, although he doubted at the time many
fans would recognise him now he had gone white haired and grown a beard. An
engagement at the National Theatre ruled him out for The Five Docrors. His next TV
appearance would be a brief role in senes one of The Black Adder

Neither Maureen O'Brien (Vicki) nor Peter Purves (Steven Taylor) were interested
in & returmn to Doctor Who, the latter having spent several years building up his career
credentials as a sports commentator. Now a schoolteacher Adrienne Hill {Katarina) was
never considered for Txe Five Docroas as her character was lechnically deceased. She
would, however, take parf in the 1984 Doctor Who segment of the Children in Need
telethon alongside, surprisingly, Maureen O'Brien. The deceased appearance veto also
attached ilself to Matthew Waterhouse (Adric) and Jean Marsh (Sara Kingdom), but as
Ms Marsh's former husband, Jon Pertwee, was a definite for The Five Doctors, a co-
starring role for her would have been unlikely to say the least.

Jackie Lane (Dodo Chaplet) had left the acting profession in the late Sixties to work
behind the scenes as a thealtrical agent, handling bookings for radio and TV commercials
Indeed one of her prize clients was Tom Baker. Similarty retired from acting were Michael
Craze (Ben Jackson) who had gone into pub management, and Anneke Wills (Polly
(Wright?)) who had left the U.K to pursue a career as an inlerior designer in Canada

Katy Manning {Jo Grant) had been the first choice for Pertwee's assistant, but when
her Australian residency became known, the costs to fly her back were judged too great
a luxury for the special's budget. Likewise in the case of John Levene (Sergeant Benton)
who had recently emigrated to the USA following the break-up of his first marriage

Having been unable to get lan Marter (Harry Sullivan) in as the first-choice replace-
ment for William Russell's part in Maworyn Un ), John Nathan-Turmer was very keen
o pair him with Tom Baker in Tre Five Doc Sadly this was aiso not to be as, by
February 1983, Marter was under contract to undertake six months of TV series
production in New Zealand. A known and popular face at many Doctor Who conventions
Marter's affinity with the programme had grown dunng the Eighties due 1o his well
received novelisations of several TV scnipls forthe Target Books range. His sudden death
from a diabetes related condition towards the end of 1986 would rob the Doctor Who world
of one of its hardest working contributors

Never having suflered from any lypecasting as a resull of playmg Leela. Louise
Jameson had worked almos! conlinually since leaving the series in 1878. Although
maintaining as many links as possible with her preferred medium, the stage, it was TV
where Producers had kept her most gainfully employed. Two seasons in the prison camp
drama series Tenko would soon be followed immediately by the offer of a semi-regular
part in the Jersey-based delective series Bergerac. A cameo role for her in the Gallifrey
segments of The Five Docroas was discussed — Leela, after all, having residency status
there byt although Jameson had agreed to the idea, production dates were not
compatible with her schedule

Mary Tamm (Romana 1) was never considered for Tue Five
her incarnation had progressed forwards to
Romana 2, Lalla Ward, which would have pre-
sented separate issues as regards casting and
pairing... Like Louise Jameson, Mary Tamm had
worked virtually non-stop since leaving the series
in 1979. Thriller series The Assassination Run
and The Treachery Game had been followed by
a role in the period classic Jane Eyre. On the
West End stage she had recently completed a run
inan Agatha Christie mystery Cards on the Table
while for BBC TV she had recently fulfiled an
ambition to do sitcom with the series The Hello
Goodbye Man. A frequent guest at American
conventions, she was spotted singing at one of
their cabaret nights by John Nathan-Turner who
immediately signed her up in 1985 for a panto-
mime season in his production ol Cinderella
alongside Nicola Bryant, Anthony Ainley and Colin
Baker. Finally, Sarah Sutton's recent depariure
from the series meant the nostalgia value of an
appearance by Nyssa would have been rather
minimal
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During the Sixues he made his name playing the part of Willy lzzard
in the hit senes Mogul (later The Troubleshooters) hefore landing
his pnize role in the Seventies with The Pallisers
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INTERVIE

MILITARY ATTACHE

From THe DaLeks’ MasTer PLan to MawbryN Unpeap the importance of NICHOLAS COURTNEY
to Doctor Who has been undeniable. As the only actor to have appeared alongside all five of
the Doctors, to have omitted his role as Brigadier Lethbridge-Stewart from Twe Five Doctors
would have been unthinkable. Now more than ten years on, as he wonders if fate will give him
a role alongside Doctor number eight, COURTNEY reminisces about the heady days of 1983.

“A FAVOURITE MEMORY from 19837 Good Lord
You know, there were just so many. | mean there was
Longleat, Chicago, any number of TV and radio plugs,
so many conventions both here and in America, and of
course making The Five DocTors itself,

“I think my noblest moment might have been step-
ping in to stop Mark Strickson hitting Tom Baker. That
was a pretty dicey moment, not least because it threat-
ened to happen in the Marquis of Bath’s main drawing
room at Longleat House. His Lordship had very kindly
offered 1o host a party in the house for all his BBC/
Doctor Who guests that first night of the big celebration
and, as you can imagine, the champagne was flowing
rather freely

“Now I can’t tell you if it was due to the fruit punch
or some other legal, or even illegal substance, he"d been
taking, but by the time larmved Mark was well away and
I was given the hint to go and look after him. And then
Tom (Baker) joined us. He was quite horrified that Mark
should be so many sheets to the wind so
early in the evening. Of course he didn't
know who Mark was. He just turned 1o me
and in that deep, loud voice that only Tom
can manage said, ‘“Who is this jack-ass?!
A few moments later we were all ushered
into the library but by this time Strickson
was so wound up that for a minute or two it
looked as though he was about to launch
himself at Tom and engage in an unseemly
brawlinthe panelled splendour of Longleat
House. Fortunately we managed to re-
strain him from any such action, but for a
time it was touch and go.”

“Otherwise, it was a wonderful, never-
to-be-forgotten night.  All the surviving
Doctors were there, plus Heather Hartnell
and just about all the companions. It was
there that I met Norman Rubenstein who
was in the process of negotiating and or-
ganising the Chicago event for November
1 remembered him from during the day as
the person who had paid nearly seven thou-
sand dollars for one of Tom’s frock coats
I"dbeenauctioning. It was a hell of a price, but then there
is something almost unreal about everyone's memories
of Longleat. It was a most unusual event

“I'think I was ipped off that Longleat was happening
by John (Nathan-Turner) as we were finishing Mawdryn
Undead. Our brief was basically just to mingle with the
crowds as best we could and to make ourselves available
for interview panels and autographs

“The autograph sessions | recall as a bit of a night-
mare as they just wenton and on. Nobody, noteven BBC
Enterprises, expected the sheer number of people whao
turned up. The session | did started about four in the
afternoon and went on into the evening until well after
eight. Even as it was getting dark there were still queues
lined all round the Orangery and off into the distance.
And it wasn’t a particularly warm April night either...”

"1 did find it interesting meeting the general public
for a change as opposed to what you might call the
show's fans. After a while you got to anticipate the
things they would ask you by the age range of the person

asking. The thirty-somethings were mainly the ones
who would say, ‘1 grew up with you. Yours was my
favourite era of the programme’. That sort of thing.
“There was never any compunction in my mind
about retuming to Doctor Who. Almost the opposite, if
anything. because beforehand I had always felt I'd left
the senes in the Seventies without really saying good-
bye. So when John Nathan-Turner first asked my
thoughts at Tom's farewell party on coming back, my
immediate reaction was, “Yes. When? When?'
“Peter MofTau directed both Maworyn Unpeap and
Tue Five DocTors and he was an absolule gem to work
with. We got on straight away, although I only learned
sometime afterwards he had been guite wary aboum
meeting me before we did MawpryN, Tdon't know why,
unless he was worried T would come across as one of
these people who knew more about the show than he did.
We became great friends nonetheless, even though he
constantly ticked me off for lying down and having a

doze during any rehearsal time where | wasn’t actually

on. I've always done that. If there’s a bunk or a couch
in a rehearsal room, Courtney’'s there al every opportu-
nity. | can still hear Peter now, ‘Brig dear, less of the bed
please!”

“On Mawpryx Uspeap | got 1o wear what became
known as the Ronald Reagan cut; lots of black gunk in
my hair and this small brillo pad at the back, all of which
caused some degree of merriment. So when we came to
do Tue Five Docrors, first of all | grew my own mous-
tache, and secondly I requested a decent hair-piece. 1got
one t0o, from a very respected company called Marsden
Wigs. They even let me take it home afterwards, not that
Icould use it now; it's too dark and wouldn 't cover all the
gaps! | haven't auctioned it yet though.

“The first L heard thatthe BBC was planning a special
celebration show was on the last day of recording
Mawpryn Unpeap. John Nathan-Tumer suddenly came
up to me at the bar and said, Of course you were with Pat
Troughton, weren't you...?". 1 said “Yes'. He said

‘Good™ Two days later he rang me up and asked if 1
winled to be in the special.

“As understand it, I was originally going to appear
with Jon Pertwee, but then with Tom not doing il they
hiad 1o re-jig all the companions around, so Lis ended up
with Pertwee. And it was absolute chaos that first day of
rehearsals. | must say Peter Moffatt was very patient
with us all. Nearly everyone had been given different
call times, so as cach new person arrived there were
monumental roars and cheers as greetings were ex-
changed, ofien very noisily. It was the first time 1 had
worked with Pat Troughton since our time together on
Tue Toree Doctors, and I can’tiell you what an absolute
joy it was to work with him again. 1 appreciated it even
more than I had done during the early days. A very fond
memory was filming with Pat up in the freezing Welsh
mountains, which was very cold even though we both
had heavy coats on. Every so often Pat would reach into
his pockets and produce this litle hip Mask of whiskey.
‘Time fora little noggin, Nick' he would
say, even if it was something like 10:30
in the morning.

“The great thing was just how well
everyone got on. There was never a
hint of ego. no cligue-forming. Even
companions who had never worked with

other companions were swapping sto-
ries about their different eras. If any
thing the only ones who [elt a little left
out were Philip Latham and Dinah
Shendan, o whom we all apologised
later for our someumes raucous reun-
tons. Ithink the atmosphere might have
been a bit more tense if Tom had been
there. You've probably heard the sto-
ries about Chicago; where Tom was
booked into a different hotel and
wouldn't appear with the rest of us.
That caused a little friction, especially
with Jon when he discovered Tom was
being pmid more than he was
“Even so that Spirit of Light conven

tion is still probably the one that sticks
best in my mind: in all of our minds really because the
sheer numbers were more than anyone had expected. It
was also the place where | had the longest wait ever for
dinner. It was on Thanksgiving Day itself which, in
America, is a public holiday so the hotel was very much
running with a skeleton staff. We had all gone down 1o
dinner together and when the menu came there was an
extensive range of salads but one hot dish, which was the
traditional turkey. Well being winter none of us fancied
a cold meal, so we all ordered the turkey

“This somewhat threw them as they had assumed,
being British, we wouldn 't want to celebrate Thanksgiv-
ing, and as a result there jusl was not enough to go round.
It was more than an hour before we got fed, by which
time relationships between the guests and the hotel staff
had deteriorated somewhat. Even when the food did
amve it was readily apparent there had been much
As you might
probably imagine there was very little in the way of
giving thanks from our tables that night.”

slamming of turkeys into microwaves

The Five Doctors
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TARDIS, Rassilon’s tomb, an ante-chamber with chequer-board
floonng, a composite of stairways and comidors inside the Dark
Tower, the roof balcony of the Tower and the Brnigadier’s office at
UNITHQ. The latter twao sets were the ones Malcolm Thornton knew
he could not fit within the confines of studio TC6H a1 Television
Centre. The only option. if available, would be to shoot these on film
Reviewing the script Saward, Nathan-Turner, Moffan and Thornton
concluded they could possibly lose the two location scenes set in
derelict city streets (Susan’s abduction and Sarah's encounter with
the Autons) withowut significantly affecting the story. Deleting these
would recover sufficient time and money 10 afford one day at the
BBC's film swudio facility in E
Research by the Production Managerallocated this story, Jeremy
Silberston, had revealed a number of locations used for UNIT HQ;
everywhere from a railway depot near King's Cross 1o a disused
airfield close 1o Aldbourne Vill Only once, however, had the
entire building been visible 1o the camera and that, fitungly, was in
Tue Turee DocTors, In this instance a Mimisiry of Defence owned
youth hostel at Upper Denham. Buckinghamshire had filled the bill
Permission was sought 1o use this site again, and when this was
granted Malcolm Thornton visited the place and decided 1o model the
interiorof the Brigadier's office sothat it would match an extenor bay
window at the hostel. The main road nearby, Tilehurst Lane, was
deemed suitable for the kidnapping sequence featuring Doctor 3, and
SET DESIGN' arrangements were duly made 1o retrieve Bessie from her winter
« ThE Five Doctors was store (which was not far from the BBC Doctor Whe exhibi-
unlike any other Doctor Who as far as finding and  tion in Blackpool) for her first appearance in the series since Rosot”
creating settings was concerned. On any ordinary 90-  production in 1974
minute seral the optimum would be one week of flm- Scotland was ongmally
ing. to yield approximately one guaner of th
followed by two studio recording blocks spr

‘X

al considered for all the Death Zone
action,  extenors, but Silberston managed 10 find everywhere required some-
ad over  what closerto “home”™, North Wales. Indeed so good was his research
five, or even six, days. Senal 6K, as oniginally envis-  that very little in the way of set redressing would be needed by scenic
d, would comprise nearly 50 percent film, 50 percent crews. What few props would be reguired, Visual Effects would
studio — a ratio which determined a mimimum location  fulfil, with the exception of a fake door for the cave inlenor scenes
shoot of two weeks. Despite the extra cash injection  and glass paintings, for which responsibility stll rested with Malcolm
from ABC Australia, there was just not enough money  Thormton. Reviewi :
in the budget to permit an additional filming week aging his studio s . Thornton chose to reserve one quarter for the
without something being sacrificed. That some- TARDIS set, which would srected throughout all three days of
thing turned out to be the second recording block. All  shooting. The remainder would accommodate sets that would be
interior work would have to be squeezed into just three days. struck once finished with and replaced with new ones

Adhenng to the strictures of & four-part Doctor Who, Terrance T'he Jogic was quite simple. The TARDIS interior featured only
Dicks had kept his set requirements to just ten: the Time Lords”  simple, uncomplicated scenes that would be easy and straightfor-
conference room on Gallifrey, an adjoining atrium, the hidden  ward toshoot. Thus, (T unforeseen setbacks were to delay work on the
Games Control Room, a Dulek city assembly of comidors, the “complex” sets . Peter Moffan would have the option to rehearse and
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record some non-complicated scenes as fillers during the interim.
Alternatively, if production seriously over-ran, it would be cheaper
and simpler 10 resurrect this stock set at a later date: possibly even
during arecording block for Season 21 if necessary. Accordingly the
camera script running orders were structured so that TARDIS scenes
would conclude each day's recordings, and the very last scenes of all
would be those featuring just the current trio of regulars: Davison,
Strickson and Fielding.

Having purchased a new TARDIS console from Visual Effects,
John Nathan-Turner completed the revamp by asking Malcolm
Thomton 1o redesign the intenior walls and doors. The result was a
new set of fluts with fewer roundel walls than before and more widely
spaced. Each wall flat also faced one control panel on the new console
so that, effectively, the room’s shape would mirror the hexagonal
shape of the console. A new set of doors connected to the lefi-hand
side of the set, angled so that cameras could no longer see beyond the
threshold. The scanner screen stayed to the right of the room, but the
internal door now adjoined i, leading out 1o another pair of flas
which could be visible to the cameras if the Director so wished

Ifthe new TARDIS was viewed as positioned bottom-right in the
studio, then above it, top-right for Day One, was the composite of
stairs und corridors inside the Dark Tower. The walls in this area were
deliberately built tall so that cameras could shoot from a number of
angles without seging the studio beyond. This was crucial as the set
had 1o double for no less than three parts of the Tower. For Doctor 3
and Sarah Peter Moffan wanted to give the idea they were descending
stairs from the roof, so he planned high camera shots looking down
the stairs. Doctor 2 and the Brigadier had entered the Tower from
down below, so for them cameras were pitched to Jook up the stairs
they were ascending. Level angles were planned for the emtry of
Doctor | and Tegan. Auachable set dressings, such as the lightning
flash symbol of the tower, moveable “swinger” wall flats plus subtle
changes in lighting would complete the processes of alteration. Once
finished with. this set would be struck and replaced with the walls of
the Dalek city

Described in the script as made of “highly polished metal”,
Thornton used tnstead panels of shiny plastic, polished mirrors, and
plywood flattages covered in silver-brushed aluminium foil; all from
stock held in scenic stores 1o keep down costs. Instead of a formally
arranged set of corridors, Thormion made the set deliberately confus-
ing to the eye by capitalising on @ mirrored surface’s propeny of
reflection. This did cause Peter Moffan and the TM | some problems
ensuring cameras never became visible, not to mention John Scon
Martin who had to determine, from his limited view, what was
carridor and what was reflection when it came to piloting his Dalek

Top-left in the studio was firstly the Game Control Room
Shaped a little like a TARDIS interior, centre stage was the pentago-
nal game board with its lit-from-below playing surface. The Timescoop
control panel units butted up against four of the wall panels. Between
these panels were arched entranceways flanked by omate pillars
raided from scenery stock. Only one of these arches led out to an
entrance cormdor, the remainder were blocked off with vertically
stacked sections of scaffolding plarforms and metal milk crates. Once
struck., the space liberated became one half of the Rassilon tomb set
Bottom-left, but linking in to the Games Room via its secret panel,
were the Gallifrey interiors. Thomton had researched Awc oF INpinimy
to get a feel for “modern Time Lord decor™ and his designs reflected
Marjorie Pratt’s work. The conference table was flanked by a tiered
gallery around the room, with any wall comers disguised with shiny
curtains. The pillars were all scenery stock, but the T-Mat console
and the painting of Rassilon playing the harp were specially commis
sioned. The double doors led out to a three-way comdor junction,
although only one direction led anywhere. This was to another tiered
gallery chamber, at the centre of which was an electrically powered
omamental fountain

By Day Three all of these Gallifrey interiors had been moved to
make space for the tomb set. Y-shaped “floater™ arches studded the
perimeter of the set with stone-textured wall flats set between them.
In the middle of this expanse the floor was painted with a chequer-
board pattern so that the top-left part of the set could be used for e
Tower ante-chamber scencs. Before this would be needed, a pre-
painted floor cloth was unrolled over the chequered pattern, and sel
on top was the omate plinth bearing the (hight-weight) sarcophagus
of Rassilon. The sarcophagus had 1o be high enough off the floor 1o
permit extras to sit inside the hollow bier and place their faces against
the vacuum-formed bas-reliefs of Borusa and his luckless immortal-
ity-craving predecessors. Two sets of bas-reliefs were carved: one sel
transiucent with hollow eyelets so the shapes of the amists’ faces
behind could be perceived, and ane set covered with grey, textured
paint to look like stone. The bortom half of this set was reserved for
the wmb entrance-way with a space for the TARDIS, a transmat
booth (re-used from the Gallifrey sets) and the specially carved
memorial stone. The inscription panels on this stone were carved
‘Jabolite"

As part of his research, Thornton asked if there had been any
previous instances of Time Lord writing used in the series. He was
loaned, courtesy of lan Levine, a copy of the onginal Piccolo Making
of Doctor Who paperback and, using that as a guide, briefed his
freelance sculptor. Hence why the Doctor’s name. as scripted in the
Hulke/Dicks paperback. comes to appear on the memorial. The long
shot views of the entire tomb would be embellished with a matte
painting of the upper walls and ceiling, added during post-produc-
tion.

COSTU M ES' With the impending rig-

ours of shooting in North Wales during early Spring to
face, Colin Lavers planned his costume budget around
the need to have available two copies of every outfit
Such a precaution would prevent expensive shooting
time being held up by one costume needing repairs or
dry cleaning. Where possible clothes would be hired
from Bermans (Lavers’ former employers) or bought
off the peg from shops. Peter Davison and Mark Stnickson
wore their standard “uniforms™, of which two copies
existed anyway. Janet Fielding was allowed some dis
cretion in choosing her own outfit which, like so many
of the outfits purchased for this story, came from stores
in the Brent Cross Shopping Centre in North London. Ac hlv.lng a
long-chenished dream, Fielding was allowed 1o choose a fur jacket
to wear on location. The Radio Times Tenth Anniversary Special
wiis Lavers' "Bible™ throughout his research and. wherever possi-
ble, he attempted either (o locate the same costumes pictured
therein, or to find substitutes resembling them

Just as the BBC had done in 1963, he hired the first Doctor’s
Edwardian apparel from Bermans. 1t was not exactly the same
combination of lounge jacket and narrow check trousers, but a close
approximation. The waistcoat had to be specially made, however,
and a pair of mittens added to protect Richard Hurndall’s fingers
from the cold 1o come on location. The mittens also hid the fact that
Humdall was not weanng the first Doctor’s blue Roman ring. A
walking cane completed his ensemble. The elements of Trought
outfit were easily found: the shabby, black frock coat, blue shirt, pin-
on bow-tie and baggy check trousers. The trousers, though, were not
the same as the second Doctor had womn in the Sixties. A different
pattern had to be found that would not cause *“Muoiré Effect” strobing
when broadcast at the BBC's transmission frequency. The big fur
coat was a late addition. Troaghton suffered from a weak heart and
there was concern at the nisk of exposing him to long peniods of
filming outdoors in the cold. The coat be had wom dunng Twus
AnomiNasLe Svowmen had been a very expensive Russian fur cout
but as the budget would not ran to two of these a pair of synthetic fur
coats was hired instead

I'he third Doctor’s ensemble was a strmightforward clone of the
outfit Jon Pertwee wore for the cover photo-shoot for the Tenth
Anniversary Special which, i term, was almost his costume from
Tue Greex Deami. The jacket and froosers were identical, but a
white ruffled shin had 1o do in place of his blue/grey one from T
Greex Deami which was no longer available. The red check Ulster
was also not the one from Toe Green Deats, but a close approxi-
maton
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Lavers was apparently unaware that Susan’s outfit should reflect
cither the early Sixties or future Earth. Consequently he dressed her
in a contemporary mixture of lace blouse
midi-skirt was timeless enouyg
pass for the mac Carole Ann Ford had worn in the very first episode
John Nathan-Tumer refereed Colin Lavers to Mawnrys Usoear
references to the Brigadier's attire, Where possible he wanted a
similarity with the dark jacket, starched shirtand malitary tie Courtney
had worn as the ' Bngadier. The

precaution against weather in Wales

ght cotton sweater and a

I'he white wencheoat, however,

s for

amel-ha
Elisabeth Sladen admits she
1shight errorof judgement when consulted about her clothes for
The Five Doclors. Having opied for a pink two-piece suit worn over
a white nk-1op sweater and blouse, with co-ordinated boots
rainst the Welsh climate
in carly Spring. Believing it would most probahly b

COMt WS 4 wise

assumed that would be enough protection ¢

el rather than

W

or a contrasting plastic mackintosh to wear over the
and consequently froze to the bone during her days on

cold she asked
outfit
location
Caroline John was allowed to wear something smart-casual from
her own wardrobe for the cameo as Liz Shaw, while Richard Franklin
was re-united with a Captain’s uniform from Bermans, although its
UNIT emblems were omitted as a hint of his character’s unreal
nature. Wendy Padbury was 1o have worn a PVC cat-suit, but when
the artist pointed out her current state of advanced pregnancy, plans
were quickly amended and instead she was given a hastily run-up
outfit put together from bubble-wrap plastic padding. Fraser Hines
outfit was also changed at the last minute. Originally Colin Lavers
picked out for him a McCrimmon blue tartan, but when the actor saw
it, he protested this was not what he had worn during his time with the

series. The

ed and green replacement was a rented costume first

worn in the 1948 film Bonnie Prince Ch

rlie

Anthony Ainley’s Master suit had been specially made for Tus
Keerer of Traken, so a duplicate had to be commissioned from the
nolable seamstress and embroidery compuny, Locks. To protect
these expensive black-velvet items Lavers provided Ainley with a
full length opera cape. Unfortunately it was not revealed to the

audience how and where the Master had come by
clothing in the Death Zone!

The Time Lord costumes were mostly from stock. Paul Jerricho
wore his Castellan’s robes from Arc oF InviNimy ards and
extras donned elements of outfits first created for Tee Dea
ht years earlier. Due to the brittle state of so many
of the distinctive fibreglass collars, none were worn except briefly by
Flavia at the very end. Both Borusa and Flavia wore styles akin w
their counterparts in AR
lighter, padded white cigarette fubric instead of the curtain material
womn by Leonard Sachs. Flavia's gown was a rich burgundy satin
fabric. Terrance Dicks wanted the old Time Lords (Rassilon’s body
and Borusa's Dark Tower robes) to appear as they had done in the
Troughton and Pertwee series, thereby distinguishing the contempo-
rary ones from those who had reigned centuries earlier. In this he was
partially rewarded by Rassilon’s appearance. which was very Sixties
Borusa was 10 have wom a black and white cape with a high collar
cut from a very stilf, filigree material so that the end result would look
a littde like a spider’s web, However, Philip Latham found it 100
constricting and uncomfortable o wear and so only appeared in his
black gown — itself cut from a number of different black fabrics

The Cybermen costumes w
the one change Lavers consciously made was equipping the actors
with sturdy lace-up boots with good treads on the soles in place of the
previous Moon Boots which would not have afforded much grip on
the shppery Welsh mountains. On Jocation so many cans of silver
spray paint were needed, often in windy conditions, 1o maintain the
metalhic look of the costumes that the clear, perspex mouthpieces gol
painted over. To keep continuity they were not cleaned up for the
studio scenes. One unforeseen problem was that many of the extras
fumished by a local theatrica ncy in Wales were notof the six foot
plus height requirement normally expected for Cybermen. Doing the
best he could, Peter Moffatt tried 1o keep these *short” Cybermen in
the background, but it proved impossible to sew the actors into their
costumes, as had been done for Earthshock, to streamline their

this piece of

while the

ASSASSIN SOME

w Iy, although the former’s was ina

those left over from Earmisnock

They were 10 have their uses during the massacre sc f
proved easy , il the artust hunched his head down, w pull the suitcollar
up far enough to make the creature appear headless. Balancing a
helmet on top achieved a convinemg enough prafile for the illusion
to be created of the Raston robot decapitating (ts hapless victim.
The Yeri costume was an old mark 11 version found packed into
a box at the Costume Departmemt stores. The iaterior bamboo
frumework wa Iy damaged and one of the or
missing. A new set of feet were supplied by Visual Effects but the
Yet appeared without its distinctive eve and beak section as an aid
to the actor’s vision in the dark cave, The Raston Robol had 1w be a

gn. The result was a padded

1l feel were

simple and economic costume to desig
silver body stocking and o half-silvered, two-picee helmet so that the

actor could (hopefully) see out but no-one could see in. A constani

er, was condensation. The seript initially

called for the robot to be capable of firi

roblem on location, howey
f

1 number of different

projectiles: kung-fu stars, darts, harpoans, ete. Practicality and costs

reduced these down 10 just harpoons

MAKE-UP:

facing Jill Hagger. Like Colin Lavers she v
copy of the Tenth Anniy /

tecreating the classic im

*s Doctor was the main challe

colour refer
Thus the wig
1o Hartnell for his
shoulder length white hair

aground the e Nicholas

ersary Special a

INCC

ence material on Hartnell’s af

she crafted was based on the or
Teniias DocToks i

back-combed 2

seall

curled
Courtney’s thinning locks were also given the addition
of a hairpiece

M 2y U
nsell anckname durning productio
Jill Ha

10

The apphance Courtney had worn for

kv, carming
of “The Brllo Pad

er accordingly commissioned anew, softerwig
up the bald circle ar the back ol the artist’s hair
Courtney was much happier with the finished result, and
the v

en went into storage @t the end of production in case it

Dinah Shendan’s hair was submerged beneath a long blonde wig

platted into brocades and swept up into a tight bun and fixed using a
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ve her the somewhat

f pearts and some gold thre
severe look thot had
Ladies. Otherwise it was business as usual for the Make-up Depart
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ment trioof ladies. Anthony Ainley got his standiard Master beard and
slicked-hack hair, Mark Stnckson had his locks dyed cop red
Patrick Tro 1on reclaimed his Beatle cut, and Jon Pertwee's silver
thatch wias tensed up it its expected fozz If anyvihing. the bigg

sl

problem facing Jill Hagger and her two assistants was maint
continuity of all the antists” hair in the damp and windy conditions of
Wales, achallenge requinng many cans of lacquer and hasty recourses
table dryers

VISUAL EFFECTS: v xer

gan working on the new TARDIS console imme
at ‘Ij. on comp eting his previous story, F
The aim wits (0 upg
switches look that had been maintained ever since Peter
Brachaki’s first design in 1963. The hexagonal shape
wits retained. That was a mandatory reguire
John Nathan-Turner. The new console was built so that
principle
ponents to facilitate transportation. Undemeath was

ning

ade 11 from the big levers, dials and

1ent from

it could be easily dis-assembled into three

a six-sided, stee med hase section that tapered as it
rose upwards. This housed the electrically dnven com-
tld move the ime r
r and quieter than before

gsin

pressor motor that w ordevice u
I

and down far sm
The b h : |
cap’ of the control panel nssembly. Its framework was o Litice of

d connectin which slotted the ‘mushroom

it much stro

metal struts which m er than any predecessors, and

bolts held the moulded fibreglass panels in place so they could be
removed if modifications were needed. There were two moulds
made: one with many recesses for switch and display panels, and one
with a large recess big enough to house a TV monitor. The panels

alternated so that a monitor panel always appeiared between two

display panels, and vice versa. All switches, lights and displays were

electronic components chosen for their n ch look. Every moni-

tor was functional and many of the banks of swite |h‘\ actuated lights
=D tell-tales. One concession to the old diys a large pull-
ontrol, replacing \\I| it Mike Kelt
ollipop’

and |

vl e

switch forthe door opening

had described once as the “hig,

The fi
housing a ‘cake-stand of o
coloured hights linked to a sequencer served uf

| component was the central column; a perspex cvlinder

r, colnured perspex pieces. An array of
t Mashing light show

whenever the console was switched on
John Brace took no part in the TARDIS reconsiruction;, his brief

was literally evervihir

compnsed a formidable

2 else required for Thie Fivie Dix s, which

re of the
v of the full

list. The only models noeded

Dark Tower. Most frequently seen was the minma
edifice; a five foot interpretation of Terrance Dicks' concept of
buildir .
paantar
it on location in false perspective shots. So strong

approachable from “above, between and bel

o of the tower was also commissioned, the ides .h ing
the g

1sts of

wind, however, that many shots were nuined when the all-too-close

-camera sheet of
separate shots of this pict
matie them into seque

5% was seen visthly wobbling Instead

re were filmed and plans put in place 1o
= featuring artists during post-production

More successful, due to its size and weight, were false perspec-
tive shots featuring the three foot police box prop originally built for
Locowoces. Using this model cut down valuable time wiich ather-

wise would have been lost moving and setting up the full size
TARDIS for the Cyber-bomb explosion. Budgets would not run to
nodels, so the complete Dark Tower set
ind, towards the end, Doctor 3's

a separate day for filming

ineluding mountams, dry e fog
breeches buoy line 10 the roof, w
As well as the full model, Brac
rendinon of the roof balcony area. In this he had 10 haise closely with
Malcolm Thormton and his plans for the live action balcony set to be
shot at Ealmg. Another mixture of models and full set was the maim
doorway mto the tov Thornton’s team provided a flat featuring
the doors for day three of recording. Visual Effects built a matching
madel of the lintel and walls surrounding the doors. Post-production
matting would create the composite picture

Pyrotechnic explosions featured largely on Brace's list of
elfecis: from small studio-bound detonations on Cybermen chest
wnits to the big bang on location as the Cyber-bomb goes off in an
anempt 1o destroy the imodel ) TARDIS. A major set-piece was the
exploding Dalek. Deciding the time had now come to show the adult
creature within the casing. John Nathan-Turner asked for something
specinl. Accordingly Brace's team st Western Avenue built a
special Dalek with innards construcied around a
cled blob, Some of the tentacles were made toth
of compressed air through them, while others w
process of > the outer ¢
cue. Visual Effects pre-cut all the damaged sections and then Mitted

recorded in the studio on tape

team constructed a more detailed

hapeless, lenia
h by pumping jets
by the simpler
asing fly apant on

ing on wires. Tomw
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them back to the main body so that they rested carefully against
tensioned mouse traps. A senes of tlanium/magnesium charges was
also attached, slung into morar wbes pointing at the mouse traps. At
the moment of action one assistant electrically detonated the charges.
the explosion tnggering the mouse traps. The combined effect blew
away the sections of Dalek while. at the same time, another Effects
assistan! pulled on a tnp wire causing pre-fractured sections of wall
behind the Daleks to fracture. A cutaway shot then revealed the Dalek
inside thrashing around in its death agonies

A number of dummy Cybermen were required on location forthe
more spectacular deaths during the massacre scene. The insides were
literally shop dummies slid into standard BBC Cyber-costumes
Lightweight vacuum-formed head pieces were used in place of the
fibreglass versions as it was expected the explosions would destroy
these masks. Provisions were also made to show a variety of severed
limb shots of Cybermen using arm components from the shop
dummies — some dressed with separate bits of costume, others
wedged into the sleeves of full costumes in place of the actor's own
arm. The robot’s deadly harpoons were made to fly accurately but
safely towards their Cybermen largets by the simple expedient of
sliding them along pre-strung lengths of very strong but very thin
wires, The Raston Robot wore specially made glove devices with a
trigger inside that fired off a pyrotechnic flash charge on cue

Although conceived by the Design Depantment, Visual Effects
physically manufactured the special flambeau brackets shaped into
the lightning flash symbol of the Dark Tower, and they provided the
flaming brazier outside the cave entrance 1o the tower. The Time Lord
cadaver, spolted by the Master on his arrival in the Death Zone, was
a “corpse” pul ogether by newcomer Visual Effects sculptor Stan
Mitchell. Tre Frvi Docrors was also John Brace's introduction to the
joysof maintaining and operating K+9 during his one day on location
The Design Department furnished the appropriately letter sign on
Sarah’s gate, “Beware of the Dog”, as well as the sign-board outside
LINIT H.Q

Each one of the linle figunnes seen on the Death Zone game
board was hand crafied by one of John Brace’s assistants using a
mixiure of wire armatures and modelling clay. The figures could only
be produced once the costumes worn by the artists had been sketched
up by the Costume Deparument. The script detailed additional figures
to the ones seen; the TARDIS, the Dalek, several Cybermen, a Yeti
and even, in early drafts, the fourth Doctor and some Autons, The
central wower was represented by a carved perspex sculpture. One
effect created but not used in the final edit was a spring wire means
of showing Rassilon’s ring flying off Borusa's finger. The shot was
performed in the studio, but was not considered good enough when
Peter Moffatt reviewed it, and so a simple video edit was performed
mslead

LOCATION DIARY:

January 27th: Costume consultations begin with all
the artists booked 1o appear in the show. Priority given
1o actors required for location filming.

February 8th: Eric Saward produces version of script
that will be used for filming. Copies circulated 1o all cast
and crew members

February 21-23rd: Technical reconnaissance of Welsh
locations by Production team. Opportunity for Set and
Effects Designers to assess props needed on location,
Team discovers the whole area blanketed in n thick
carpet of snow.

February 24th: Technical reconnaissance of all Mid-

dlesex locations. Richard Mathews (Rassilon) visits

Visual Effects Workshop to have a cast made of his head. From this
a dummy head will be made for the effigy of Rassilon that will lie on
the sarcophagus duning those scenes where Mathews” will also be
seen speaking as Rassilon. Eric Saward delivers version of seript
which incorporates the four artists engaged to play the “phantoms™

February 25th: A Friday. The entire cast gathers for the first lime
10 conduct a read-through of the script. Minor script revisions are
made, including a change 1w who goes with Tegan 1o make 1ea aboard
the TARDIS. Originally it was o have been Tegan and Susan, but
after vociferous protests by Janet Fielding, Turlough gets the job in
place of the Doctor’s grand-daughter.

February 28th — March 3rd: Rehearsals get underway al “ Acton
Hilton™ only for those scenes that will be filmed. None of the
Gallifrey-based cast are required.

March 4th: BBC props van, filming equipment and production crew
travel to Wales. Main base camp hotel for the shoot is The Oakley
Arms in Maentwrog although due to the size of the unit, overspill has
10 be accommodated in the nearby Grapes Hotel. As the camera team
begins unloading and setting up at the first location, those artists
reguired for day one begin arriving: Peter Davison, Janet Fielding,
Murk Strickson and Richard Hurndall.

March 5th - Day One: Unit establishes a base camp at The
Brondanw Arms at Llanfrothen, Penrhyndeudraeth. A 7:30 stan for
cast and crew, the two locations for this first day of filming are both
in the grounds of Plasbrondanw, the private estate of Lady Annabel
Williams-Ellis: widow of the great architect Sir Clough Williams-
Ellis, creator of the ltalianate village of Portmeirion. Filming starts
at 09:00 around the wall area of a ruined chapel designated to be the
Eye of Onion. The snow has all gone and in its place are grey, leaden
clouds and a cooling breeze. Bnght, orange lighting used 1o boost
poor daylight conditions for the four film sequences. For the after-
lunch session the camera is moved 1o the Rose Garden for the scene
of the first Doctor's kidnapping and the shon exchange between
Tegan and Doctor | as they trek from the TARDIS towards the tower,
Filming wraps around 18:00

March 6th: A Sunday. A day off for the unit. Carole Ann Ford,
Anthony Ainley and the three speaking Cybermen actors travel 1o
Wales.

March 7th - Day Two: Mark Strickson leaves for home. Remaining
eight artists plus five locally recruited actors to play Cybermen wken
in coach to Wasteland |; the slopes around Carreg Y Foel Gron off
the B4407 road. Base camp is the Cafe Pont Yr Afon Gam. 09:00
filming starts. Scenes shot: Susan and Doctor | finding the TARDIS
(a sequence which the provision of a convenient fibreglass boulder
from Visual Effects for the old man 1o rest against): the Master’s
meeting with Doctor 5, Tegan and Susan, and their subsequent
discovery and ambush by Cybermen: Susan and Tegan's escape with
the former twisting herankle: The recovering Master's capture by the
Cybermen. 18:00 wrap.

March 8th - Day Three: Peter Davison, Janet Fielding, Carole Ann
Ford and Richard Hurndall return 1o London. Nicholas Courtney and
Patrick Troughton travel to Wales and are on location for late PM.
Location is again Wasteland | foran 09:00 start. A photographer from
Radio Times is also present this day, Scenes shot: The Master offers

Continued on page 20
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Self-Congratulation?

The Five Doctors is a celebratory romp
perfectly suited to Children in Need,
decides STEPHEN O'BRIEN

ALTHOUGH it appeared unfair at the time, it seems
only fitting that the transmission of The Five Docrogs
should have been delayed rwo days so as 1o form part of
the Beeb's annual Children in Need 1elefest.

Itis tempting to lump The Five Docrogs in with other
non-canonical “stories’ such as Dimensions iy Time and
A Fix witi SoNTarRANs, in that it”'s so outside the norm of
the show. It's so sell-consciously a celebratory story thar
there’s little pretence that anything more serious than a
good old knees-up is going on, a knowing wink 1o the
audience.

Its own self-acknowledgement as an anniversary
special allows Terrance Dicks to get away with a lot,
plot-wise. It's not easy to write a story incorporating all
the major elements of a twenty-year old series and do
those elements justice. The continuity errors are unim-
portant, because they are the least outrageous aspects of
the script. The fact that four Doclors are wandering
around with their respective companions and bumping
into the Yeti, the Cybermen and the Daleks just because
of one mad Time Lord is staggeringly improbable, but ir
doesn't matter thanks 1o the novelty aspect of the story

The script is not archetypal Doctor Who, but rather
a clever approximation of the public's perception of the
series. Dicks delights in showing us the obligatory
corridor scenes, the tripping companions tumbling down
hills. It’s a celebration of the comic strip nature of the
programme which was always there to a greater or lesser
extent.

The charactenisations of all bar the current regulars is
grossly caricatured, with the guest artists conforming to
their newspaper images rather than the characters they'd
demonstrated during their own eras. Pertwee gels some
death-defving stunts (and the chance 1© be rude and
patronising ), Hurndall is bemused and passive (giving
an off-target performance which, lets face it would have
been unacceplable once “proper’ Hartnell was available
on tape five years later), and Troughton becomes the
irreverent overgrown schoolboy, All very diverse and
precisely defined so that when they meel they clash in all
the rnght ways.

Inevitably, there is too much crammed into the script
to make it genuinely satisfying, Characters and monsters
alike wander on and off with the regularity of Children

inNeed's guest celebrities, IfNathan-Tumer and Saward
had allowed Dicks to be a little more ruthless with the
extraneous characters like Susan and the Master he
might have been able 1o build up the others; as it is,
bringing Susan Foreman back is pointless when she isn’t
the central focus of the story. She remains one of the
most enigmaric regular characters in Doctor Who's
history, and her fleeting appearance undermines her
importance in the series” debut year. T Five Doctors
was written for casual fans of the series, and to exploit
such an important character as Susan for the benefitof a
tiny proportion of the audience was misjudged

I1"s unreasonable to make so many demands on any
one writer, as Robert Holmes realised — whole charac-
ters are given Lo the wrter wholesale, and the room lor
invention is immediately limited. It's therefore under-
standable that Dicks simplified muany of the guest char-
acters like the Brigadier and Sarah-Jane. The walk-on
appearances of Jamie, Zoe, Mike and Liz work better
and bring to mind once again what this story really is: a
great big party within the loosest fictional framework
his debatedly non-canonical nature almost leis the writ-
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ers off the hook over the misused characters and indeed
the continuity blunders. 1t's difficult 10 get wo pent-up
about errors of this kind any more, but in 1983 their
importance seemed far more pronounced.

If the story was more obviously intended for the
casual fans than much of Nathan-Turner's work on the
series, then it can be deemed quite successful. Refer-
ences to Skaro and Rassilon are thrown around for the
die-hards. but 1t’s almost like those old pantomimes
Brue Perer and Namoswioe used to stage back in the
1970s. The Master is wheeled on for a boo and a hiss
while Troughton and Pertwee deliver their recognised
trademarks to be applauded like Gallifreyan Fonzies
Their verbal spat at the end 15 owes more to the actors’
on-stage teasing at conventions than the relationship the
two enjoyed 1n THE Turee DocTors.

It's perhaps a blessing that Tom Baker wasn't in-
volved. As in Adrian Rigelsford’s park DiMeNsion, he
would have been given star billing, and his inclusion
would have crammed the other characters together to
such an extent that they'd have had little more than a
cough and a spit each, with Doctor five squeezed out
altogether. As it is, many of the people we'd like 10 see
are denied the breathing space they need: with Tom
involved... Thought the Doctor/companion teams would
have worked rather better - even freed from the tiresome
pseudo-feminist rhetoric that passed for dialogue in her
early episodes, Sarah-Jane works better with a Doctor
willing to treat her as an equal: against Pertwee's super-
cilious Doctor she's so docile she almost seems to be
speaking Jo Grant's unaltered lines.

Though given the prestigious opportunity 1o unmask
Borusa as the villain of the piece, Peter Davison is rather
swamped by the unsubtle charactenisation of the other
Doctors, und the heightened nature of Tue Five Doctogs
cruelly exposes Davison's weak spots as the Doctor,
while he's clearly uncomfortable in this style of Doctor
Who. The Brigadier, similarly. having lost his suff
upper lip in retirement, has become a hysterical figure
who, when coupled with Troughton's comic perform-
ance, 15 another nod 1owards the story’s panto roots,

The plot itself is nicely simple (although the
specifics can be questioned ), and the Death Zone proves
an inventive way of bringing all the Doctors together as
they move gradually towards the Tower and their meet-
ing, The game aspect of the scriptagain pointsto the self-
consciousness of the story, and the script 18 knowingly
derivative of other Doctor Who stories, drawing on
CarnIVAL OF MownsTers, THE DEapLY Assassin and Tue
War GAMES s its main inspirations. The Death Zone at
least restores an element of horror and mystery the Time
Lords, but Borusa makes for a disappointing central
villain. The perpetual recasting of the character under-
mined the power he might otherwise have had. and the
nature of the story prevents it from exploiting the Doc-
tor's apparent ambivalence about his presumed old

friend — the two had always had a complex and unique
relationship, part teacher-pupil, pant father-son. Be-
cause the story is aimed primarily at the casual fan, the
traitor could have been anyone and still had the same
dramatic resonance for the vast majority of viewers -
indeed, with so few suspects to choose from, the surprise
i5 purely that the Masterisn’tallied to Borusa. Bergerac
would try the same tnick more successfully inthe Geoffrey
Sax-directed episode A Max oF Sorrows — but there
Crozier's corruption has an impact precisely because
he's been the deskbound superior in every episode of the
lust seven years. Not one or two every few seasons.

It’s a shame John Nathan-Turner was unable to
convince Waris Hussein or Douglas Camfield to helm
Tue Five Doctors, as Peter Moffatt's sluggish direction
does little 1o create the epic nature intended. Moffatt is
acompetent director, but his lack of flambayance sits an
armospheric piece like The VisiTaTion better. The pac-
ing 1s particularly bad, and the blame for this lies with
both Moffatt and Eric Saward. The coherency of the
story is often sacrificed 10 make room for ostentatious
chase sequences, stunts and massacres. which, while
somelimes impressive, could have been cut to make
room for some of the curtailed scenes reinstated in the
special edition. The story sometimes feels as if too much
has been crammed in for no logical reason. There's no
reason for the Cybermen to be in the Zone, and indeed
by placing them there Borusa has made the Doctors” task
more difficult. A little counter-productive. ..

Peter Howell's score, by contrast, is among the best
of the programme. His siren-like wails for the Death
Zone scenes is particularly eerie, underscored by the
ominous bass that primes the viewer for the Time Scoop
obelisk. Unfortunately, the studio sets look poor com
pared with the sense of scale provided by the more-than-
usual amount of film work. Though Malcolm Thornton
does his usual best, the Gallifreyan scenes resemble a
dentist's waiting room, though the corridors of the Dark
Tower are better - and better lit.

1t’s the Skaro corridor scenes though which empha-
sise the missed opportunities: Dicks' tributes to the
series’ past should have been done in a more obviously
parodic way. Unfortunately, Doctor Who's reputation
was, and remains, so fragile that the wisdom of this sort
of thing remains debateable: the special was likely to
draw in viewers who hadn't watched the series in years,
and wouldn’t recognise a pastiche of the Classic Doctor
Who story when they saw one, taking instead as a
sample of the show's current style.

As a one-off, however, THe Five Doctors makes an
interesting diversion. Basically, it’s fun 1o watch, even
if it is like walching the cast of Doctor Who send
themselves up. But then that doesn’t matter: for perhaps
the only time in Nathan-Tumer’s era, the series was
being made for them — the silent majority who
kept Doctor Who ontour screens for twenty yca}s.@

What the
Fanzines Said..

"Richard Hurndall was clearly having a whale of a time.
He was obviously enjoying his opportunity 1o recreale a
role in Doctor Who, perhaps the most important
considering his decision in Rassilon's tomb. He was an
excellent choice for a first Doctor replacement and
recreated the part exactly,”

John Logan, Pharos Project 2

"John Nathan-Tumer, Eric Saward and Peter Moffat
make a devastating combination, and in The Five
Doctors the TAD covered the entire twenty year history
of Doctor Who. It's tempting to add that the ZMI was the
Hartnell era, but that's only to state the obvious: you
can't expect a faithful recreation of that period with the
star dead and the juvenile lead in her forties. Carole Ann
Ford seemed unsure whether she was playing Susan
grown up or as a child, while Hurndall neither looks or
sounds liek Hartnell. Harinell's voice and features have
hard edges to them, and the lack of these in Hurndall
gave his version of the character an impression of
dottiness alien to the oniginal. This is hardly the actor's
fault - he should never have been cast in the first place.
Troughton, Strickson and Sladen, the three finest
actors in the cast fumed in only competent
performances, the problem being that the characters
were all presented in 'pop’ versions - bland figures onto
whom well-known lraits have been crudely grafted. At
least the ariginal actors could do their best to play the
characters - Hurndall could only play the script.”

Martin Wiggins, Space Rat 6

“If the Doctors managed to get a chance to strut their
stuff then I'm afraid the same can't be said for the
companions. The talents of the performers were
wasted. Paul Jerricho's 'No, Not the mind probe’ was
awful, though Philip Latham was marvellous - his
portrayal of Borusa was perhaps the best yet:
wonderfully low key, the character he played was by no
means evil or Insane.”

Saul Gething, TARDIS 8/4

“Hurndall neither looked nor sounded like Hartnell - all
he could do was dress up in the costume and mimic the
mannerisms. Good thing oo, because by trying not to
be Hartnell, but instead to be the Doctor, he
immediately won the viewers over, proving that in a
show like Doctor Who no actor is irreplaceable.”

Gary Russell, Time Watcher Tom Baker Special

'Patrick Troughton managed to steal the show once
more."
Linda Bradick, TARDIS 8/4

"On watching, | couldn't help but wonder whether the
Tom Baker footage was necessary. Richard Hurndall
was a perfectly adequate first Doctor in much the same
way that Anthony Ainley is a good Master - we can't
have the originals back, so there's no point in criticising
their successors for not being exactly the same. The
Cybermen still sound a bit too human for my tastes,
and as for the criminal waste of the Abominable
Snowman,.."

Guy Clapperton, TARDIS 8/4

*"Why did | find 1t all so bitterly disappointing? The plot
was well constructed and thanklully not oo derivative -
it's only a pity different groups of monsters couldn’t
have replaced some of the various Cyber-patrois. Yet
the script didn't do a good plot justice. The superfluous
continuity was poor, and there were appalling pieces of
seff-indulgence. Continuity itself is handled carelessly,
with error after error after error. All three earlier Doctors
were caricatures, fitting their newspaper images.
Characterisation made The Three Doctors a classic.
The Five Doctors had a better plot, yel it was wasted.
The worst story any of the Doclors appeared in, the
worst Cyberman story, the worst Dalek story...”
Michael Kenwood, Skaro 4/3-4

“The new console is very nice looking and even more
'technologically advanced' than the old one - which is
precisely what | dont like. "

lan Massey. TARDIS 8/4
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the Cybermen his help in exchange for his life: the Cybermen
complete preparing their bomb: the Cybermen detonate the bomb
justas the (model) TARDIS dematerialises. (N.B: As the Cyberleader
in this sequence could not possibly be the same as the one concur-
rently in the Dark Tower, its voice was modulated 1o a higher pitch
during sypher dubs). Due to problems with the Dark Tower false
perspective shot, the sequence of the Brigadier and Daoctor 2 spotting
it in the distance was deferred till Day Four. 18:00 wrap.

March 9th - Day Four: Amthony Ainley returns to London
Moming location is again Wasieland | starting ar 09:00. The first
TK. an establishing glass shot of the Tower has to be abandoned due
tw problems with severe gusts of wind ruining the perspective
Miniature is shot separately for later matting into the scene with the
Brigadier and Doctor 2, which is now done as the first scene of the
day, Establishing shots of the tower will have w be deferred until
studio recording  Also shot this moming: Doctor 2 confides to the
Brigadier he fears they are playing the Game of Rassilon. PM the unit
relocates a few miles north to Wasteland 2, Manod Quarry near
Ffestiniog. The scenic design crew begin work inside the quarry cave
setting in the false door and prop stones and boulders. Outside, by a
ruined stone workman's hut, Moffatt shoots the lengthy sequence
leading up 1o the Brigadier’s arm being seized by an out-of-shot
Cyberman (Emyr Morris-Jones). Planned Visual Effects smoke is
used 1o conceal the creature's identity in long shot, Unplanned is the
heavy rolling mist which obscures Moffan's wish to shoot a long
shot tracking pan of the Brigadier and Doctor 2 walking beneath a
towering crag. Wrap is after 18:00.

March 10th - Day Five: Location is Wasteland 2, filming start,
09:00. Coldest day of the entire shoot. Crew splits into two units
Cameraman John Baker goes with Peter Moffatt and the main team
into the cave 1o shoot all the underground scenes with Doctor 2, the
Brigadier and the Yeti (Lee Woods). Effects provide the dry ice mist
in the subterranean lake. the Doctor’s firework and the fake rocks for
the cave-in. Ahove ground John Nathan-Turner makes his directorial
debut. Working to a specific shot fist from Moffat he, along with
John Brace and a second unit camera team, film close-up special
effect sequences of the Cybermen massacre, As well as the speaking
Cybermen actors and two extras, Stuart Fell dons a costume for the
mure dangerous stunls — gunge vomiting, spear shots, falls, e
Pyrotechnic and harpoon firing shots with the Raston Robot are
filmed in the afternoon. There is just time towards the end of the day
1o shoot the nbove ground scene of the Brigadier and Doctor 2
arriving at the cave and finding the burning brazier, Units wrap
eventually around 18:30. In London Eric Saward completes the
camera Script re-wrle

March 11th - Day Six: Location isagain Wasteland 2, filming stan
(19:00). While the scenic design crew packs up underground, on the
surface the entire day 15 given over to choreographing the main action
of the Cybermen massacre, minus those scenes with Sarah and
Doctor 3. Unit wraps ar 18:00. Although not officially due on
location, Peter Davison, Mark Strickson and Janet Fielding arrive
back at the Oukley Arms Hotel in the evening for a pany. Peter
Moffatt entertains on the piano

March 12th: A Saturday and a day off for the unit. Jon Pertwee and
Elisabeth Sladen travel early 1o Wales. Cast and crew enjoy a day out
at Porumeirion village. Patrick Troughton and Nicholas Courtney
booked to return to London in the evening

March 13th - Day Seven: Location is once more Wasteland 2
filming start, 09:00. Scenes shot: Doctor 3 spots a patrol of Cybermen
as they climb the mountain-side: the two freeze into immobility as
they spot the Raston Robaot: their escape from the massacre via the
robols arsenal of spare harpoons, followed by the one surviving
Cyberman. Unit wrap, 18:00. Anthony Ainley travels back 1o Wales
March 14th - Day Eight: Final day a1 Wasteland 2. filming star
09:00. Scenes shot: Doctor 3 and Sarah create and launch their
escape hine from the mountain parapet tothe tower roof while fending
off the last remaining Cyberman: the Master watches from below
Jon Pertwee objects 10 the idea of fashioning a bow and amow. He,
Moffatt and Nathan-Tumner sit down in the crew Land-Rover and
eventually block out an alternative sequence substituting a lasso for

the bow and arrow. The afternoon session takes place on the
penphery of the quarry and is the infamous “slopehanger” scence as
Doctor 3 rescues Sarah from a dangerous ditch, Unit wrap 18:00,
Richard Hurndall and Janet Fielding travel up to Wales

March 15th: Day Nine: Location 1s Wasteland 3, a track of road
in Cwm Bychan, Llanbedr near Dolwreiddiog. Filming start,
09:00. Scenes shot: the Master's armival in the Death Zone and his
discovery of a Time Lord corpse: Doctor 3 and Sarah encounter the
Master just before a lightning bolt disables Bessie. Due witslength
and having to be partially filmed using a locked off camera
mounted on Bessie, this latter scene had to be shot several times due
to Jon Pentwee’s problems saying the lines while concentrating on
driving the car. Janet Fielding and Richard Hurndall also reshot
their "Come on Doc...” telecine at this location as Moffart had not
been happy with the background for the onginal take on the 5th
Wrap, 18:00 and a final party at The Oakley Arms

March 16th: The stand-by day, but in practice this was pack-up
and return to London for cast and crew alike. Immediately on their
return the scenic design team began set construction at Ealing
Studios.

March 17th - Day Ten: The morming base camp is the MOD/
YMCA hostel in Havling Lane. Upper Denham although the very
first location is the main country road immediaiely beyond its
perimeter, Tilehouse Lane. Filming siari, 09:00 with vanous
motornng shots leading up to Doctor 3's capture by the Timescoop
Immediately afier this the focus shifts 1o the grounds of the youth
hostel and the Brigadier/Doctor 2 exchanges leading to their being
overwhelmed by the Timescoop. By mid-morning the cast had
swelledto include Peter Davison, Richard Hurndall, Elisabeth Sladen
and Carole Ann Ford, all in costume and make-up, plus K9 and
Bessie. The Press atiends a lunch-time photocall which will officially
launch the 20th anniversary celebrations. Hopes that Tom Baker will
attend are dashed, but John Nathan-Turner has anticipated this, and
the Madame Tussauds dummy is roped in instead. The PM session
requires only Elisabeth Sladen and John Leeson to sound-on-film
record K9 sdialogue. The venue is the house of Mr& Mrs Thompson,
2 West Common Road, Uxbridge. Sarah leaving her house, and her
kidnap from the bus stop are the two scenes filmed. Wrap, 18:00
March 18th - Day Eleven. Lacation is the BBC's Television Film
Studios at Ealing Green, West London. Filming start, 09:30. Scenes
shot: AM, the aftermath of the Bnigadier's reurement party from
UNIT: PM. Doctor 3 and Sarah scramble onto the balcony of the Dark
Tower — a sequence which entailed both artists having to sail down
a breeches buoy wire and clamber up the side of a set some eight feet
above floor level. Filming wrap, 17:30.

STUDIO DIARY:

Mar 19-28th: Rehearsals for the recording block take
place at Acton. The full cast is assembled bar David
Savile, Ray Float, Keith Hodiak, Stuart Fell and the five
Welsh Cybermen/Yeti extras
March 29th - Day One, a Tuesday. Camera rehears-
als begin at 11:00 in TC6, Johnnie Mack, Frederick
Wolfe and William Kenton swell the cast ranks playing
non-speaking Time Lords and a guard. Recording com-
mences 14:00 with all the solo sequences of Borusa
(gloved hands only visible) in the Game Control room
Filmed lootage of Doctor | in the rose garden is elec-
tronically fed to the Timescoop screen as is, in a later
scene, a still photograph of Doctor 4 and Romana from
Professor Chronotis” room in SHADA. Two cameras only cover these
scenes. The remaining three are in position on the composite wower
corridors/stairwell set, All four comidor scenes are accomplished,
including all the cameos featuring Yates, Liz, Zoe and Jamie.
Recording pauses occurbetween each scene to allow for lighting and
items of set decoration changes. A moveable “Mloater™ wall aids in
changing the architecture

After a standard BBC 18:00-19:00 lunch hour the evening
recording schedule altemates between scenes in the Gallifrey capitol
and those scenes in the TARDIS featuring the greatest number of cast
members (Doctors 5 & 1, Tegan, Turlough and Susan). All of the
Master™s Gallifrey nes are recorded plus electronic effects scenes
such as use of the Trans-mat booth and the Time Lord’s attempt to
free Doctor 4 and Romana from limbo. Images of the Dark Towerand
the surrounding landscape. created by Graphics Designer Lun Hewett
using # BBC microcomputer. are matied 10 various screens as
directed, Recording completes by 22:00 with the scene of Doctor |
and Tegan preparing to st out for the tower. Overnight a scenic crew
dismantles the tower cormdors set and erects the Dalek city corridor
assembly
March 30th - Day Two and a 10:30 start for camera rehears-
als. The afternoon session is entirely given over to completing the
Gallifrey scenes. Messrs. Pertwee, Counney, Ainley, Sladen are not
needed this day. William Kenton (a guard) is the only non-speaking
actor required. The first scenes are those revolving around the
Castellan’s framing for conspiracy, leading 1o his “accidental” ex-
ecution. John Brace supervises the effects shot of the black scrolls
igniting courtesy of an electronically detonated Mash charge. Numer-
ous retakes are needed of Paul Jermicho’s bid 1o say the cod line, “No,
not the mind probe!™ convincingly. Funther scenes with Borusa and
Flavia follow in story order, progressing to the Doctor's discovery of
a hidden door 10 Game Control. Finally, before lunch, the three
confrontation scenes between Doctor 5 and a black gowned Borusa
ure recorded, culminating in Patrick Troughton's one scene as Doctor
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8904

2 mes to contact the capitol from the tomb. A he is seen only on a

monitor, it was not necessary to have the tomb set ready. All castapan
from Doctors | and 5, Tegan, Turlough and Susan are reles
afterwards

The first part of the evening session is given over entirely 1o
shooting the Dalek scenes in the metal corridor set. An out-take is
recorded of John Scott Martin and Roy Skelton deliberately overact-
ing as the Dalek. It is shown years later on a Noel Edmonds
programme. A lot of time is given over to setting up and shooting the
effects explosion of the prop Dalek. The remainder of the evening
then concentrates on the six TARDIS scenes where an anxious
Turlough and Susan watch, via the scanner, filmed insent shots of the
Cybermen preparing their bomb. The final scene is the very last in
story order: the Doctor going on the run agan in a rackety old
TARDIS. Reported! heer goes up as this lin
the day. Ovemnight Game Control and the Gallifre)
struck and replaced by the tomb intenor
March 31st - Day Three and another 10:30 start. The non-film full
cast 18 in attendance bar Paul Jemicho, Roy Skelion, John Scon
Martin, Stephen Meredith and Stuart Blake. Norman Bradley and
Lloyd Williams add 10 the number of non-speaking guards, plus
Charles Milward, Graham Cole, Alan Riches, lan Marshall-Fisher
and Richard Bonehill as doomed Cybermen. A matte artist is also in
attendance, creating the glass painting that will show the tomb's
long shot. Very first scene of the day, and Doctor 1's
entry to the tomb via the front gates, Dave Chapman adds a slowly
nsing electronic black wipe beyond the gateway as the door prop is
lifted using highting hoists. Chuantel 15 used to nlt, scale and match the
live action 1o the doorway surround model

The three big scenes mside Rassilon’s tomb are shot nextin story
order, beginning with the glass painting establishing view of the
whole set, the brief “reverse the polanty™ scene as the TARDIS is
freed, and the entire gallery of evens from Borusa amving to claim
immaortality to Doctor 5 beating a hasty retreat back into the TARDIS
proclmmed President. Richard Muthews (Rassilon)
shots lying atop his sarcophagus but other
y 15 played by a dummy. For his “hve”
appearance Mathews is shot separately against blacks and a close-up
of his head supenmposed over the main picture. Vanous recording
pauses necessitnted 1o switch over the alcove bas-reliel panels. For
those multiple dematerialisations of the TARDIS, a camera image of
the model police box against a CSO screen 1s aligned precisely over
a locked-ofT shot of the full sized box., the camera not the model then
moving as directed

loses recordir

capitol set

10 esca
performs
wise his

A e Rl LA TR

During lunch break all the tomb trappings are removed to reveal
the chequer-board beneath the sarcopt
centrates firstly on all the ante-chamber sequences featuring Doctor
I. Susan, the Master and the Cybermen, Events are shot in story
order with only one lengthy pause as the Cybermen are wired up for
their massacre shots. To avoid visible, each
Cybermen actor 1s Kitted out with a b
pack to ignie the flash charges on cue
The final hour and a balf 1s taken up with all seven of the very
y TARDIS scenes; from Doctor § inspect
15 collapse as parts of his being are stnpped away, Davison
Fielding and Strickson are the onl
the cast retire to an “end of term™ party in one of the basement
reception suites. Last of all to be recorded are the numerous model
shot inserts. Yet again Peter Moffatt is able o mumntain his record
1 show 1n on time

15, Evening session con-

tranling wires being

1-held tn

1 and a battery

: his new cor

aruists required. while the res

of bringing

POST-PRODUCTION:

April 1 st was Good Friday and an opportumity fora brief
rest for cast and crew members. By Saturday moming
all departments at the BBC with any connections to
Doctor Who production were a hive CUVILY IS vans
were loaded with props, costumes and models for the
trip 1o Longleat. Virtually the entire line up of regulars
from Tue Five Doctors, plus a good many others
(including Tom Baker) were contracted to appear over
the two day event which spunned Apnl 3rd and 4th
Nothing more was done on the production side of senal
6K uniil 1ape-to-tape transfer of the raw master record-
ngs onto working prints took place on Apnl 18th J"’
Transfer of the vast amount of film stock onto video /Mi.
took three days 10 accomplish due to the need to adjust bralliance,
zls would look

colour and contrast on every reel so that lighting le
the same throughout. The three davs allotted to this process were
May 13th, 19th and 25th. A ranty for this production was a two day
slot for Gallery Only work between May 16th and 15th back m
studio TC6. Dave Chapman was joined by lan Hewett and De
Effects specialist Jean Peyre in constructing the many nick shots
called for in the script

Most complex of all was hm p all the elements for the
rooflop [.nn-__‘ shot of Doctor 3 and Sarah. A Cuantel 500 and a
compuier based bitmap manipulating package called “Pamtbox™
were used to size-up. align and blend-in the background
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RODUCTION

mountainscape, the model and live action set foolage into one
seamless picture. More primitive technology, a BBC microcom-
puter, was used Lo generate the array of dancing lightning zaps which
see off the Cybermen raiding party as they cross the chequered floor
Chapman used 1 colour pattern generator to produce the soft-focus,
oscillating hues which surround the ghostly image of Rassilon, as
well as the halos that emanate from Cyber-weapons when fired
Other lightning bolts and Dalek my hlasts were added using the
Quantel, as were mattes of recorded footnge onlo most scanner screen
picture areas, The Timescoop was a simple triangle, created by a
shape generator, colounised black and then fed into the Quantel’s
memory store where it could be flipped and sized as required. CSO
keyed the desired static image of the Timescoop’s victim into the
black area at the appropriate moment

To make the drop from colour into monochrome not so notice-
able during the pre-credits clip of William Hartnell from T Davex
Isvasion o Earmi, Chapman added a rose-coloured tint 1o the
extract. The footage from Snaba was untouched except for adding a
brief appearance of the Timescoop triungle at the end of the first
sequence

On May 23rd the shows opening and closing credits were
created. By this point it had been decided o market The Five Docrogrs
as both a TV movie and as a standard four-episode package, so credits
for each version were compiled. Editing the finished producis 1o-

gether took seven whole days over May 23nd, 25th, 28th, 31st, June
2nd and 3rd. Sound dubbing took place on May 30th so that the
Radiophonic Workshop would have working copies available by
June 6th

SPECIAL SOUND: v.s v

raided the workshop's archives for some of the required
source material. Dalek gun-fire from Desminy oF ThE
Daiexs, staser bolts from Tue Deaney Assassiv, Cyber-
guns from Esgtusaock, and all the way hack to Ths
Wen oF Feag for a Yeti roar; reputedly the modulated
sound of a lavatory flushing. Also from the old days,
Mills re-introduced the notion of the Cybermen’s ar-
mour being thick metal, viz. the sound made as the
Doctor strikes the silver hand gnpping the Bngadier's
arm. Curiously, Mills did not use the opportunity of a
redesigned TARDIS interior 1o revamp any of the
ship's electronic hums and whirrs

One subtle device Mills did employ was adding a different
ambient sound to each of the three wasteland locations — a rarefied
wind noise for the bleak moorlands, a deeper, hollow sound for the
slate quarry and a gentle breeze for the road sequences with Bessie
Aside from remodulating the voices of the Cybermen party trying to
break into the TARDIS, a hasty redub had 10 be arranged when it was
noticed Richard Humdall had recited an incorrect value for the p
constant during studio taping. He was called into the Radiophonic
Workshop on July 20th 10 recite the comrect numerical sequence
which was then duly spliced into the soundirack.

MUSIC: Peter Howell's work on Tue Five

Doctors technically began even before the show went
into production. Having some time on his hands one day
at the Radiophonic Workshop he decided to experiment
combining the old Delia Derbyshire arrangement of the
Doctor Wheo theme music with his 1980 revamped
treatment, Howell found the pitch and tempo of the
original theme was 100 show compared to his, so he fed
o tape of Derbyshire’s orchestration through a harmo-
niser and changed it from a key of E minor to F sharp
before speeding up the playback until the two tempos
matched precisely, Engaged by John Nathan-Tumer (o
write incidental music for Tue Five Doctors, Howell
mentioned the iden of a signature turn that would reflect
1963 as well as 1983. The Producer agreed to the
proposal and accordingly the show ended with the new armangement
which ran to an unusually long duration of one minute, fourteen
seconds

The composer also reviewed the work of one ol his contemporar-
1es at the Workshop, Malcolm Clarke, whose incidental music for the
Cybermen in Eaurnssock he so admired. Clarke's theme had heen
built around the sounds of hammers clanking on various lengths and
diameters of metal pipe. It was this Howell wanted to incorporate
within Tie Five DocTogs, but in the end he was only able 1o use atiny
fraction of it in two briel location scenes of the Cybermen marching

Inspiration for the distunctive Dark Tower hom blast came from
a stock recording of a hooter blowing on the Queen Mary liner
Howell sampled this mto the computer memory on his ‘Fairlight’
synthesiser, raised the frequency and clipped the top peaks off the
digital representation of the sound. The result was a shnll, but fla,
drone which Howell used during establishing shots of the tower. He
also incorporated it into Borusa’s demise. By timing multiple blasts
of this hom sound over footage showing Borusa clutching his hands
over his ears, Howell implied the noise could be heard as part of the
drama and not just as incidental music

With prospects of marketing the show as a serial in mind, Howell
was asked to compose cliff-hanger “stings” for the three planned
cpisode endings which would be;-

1) The ‘slopchanger’ as Sarah loses her balance in the fog

2) Turlough and Susan switch on the TARDIS scanner and sec
the ship surrounded by Cybermen.

3) The Master creeps down a stairwell in the tomb behind the
retreating figures of Doctor | and Tegan

In total Peter Howell produced just over 20 minutes of incidental
cues. Two pieces he was not responsible for were the stock track of
brass band music from Chappels’ played over the punting scene from
Suana, and the harp music played by Doctor 5. In the latter case a
musician was specially broughi into the Maida Vale studios to record
a shor, three-second improvised tune.

A segue of Howell's scare for The Five Doctors was later
released as pan of the Doctor Who — The Music 11 album by BBC
Records in 1985, and then again in 1992 as pan of a CD compilation
album from “Silva Screen' appropriately titled The Five Doctors

C UTS: A number of cuts were made 1o bring

Tue Five Docroers down 1o its final transmission time,
some reinstated for the BBC Video special edition. At
the start of the Eye of Orion scenes, 1 6 second shot of
the Doctor emerging from the TARDIS and joining
Turlough was omitted, while after the Doctor’s line
“Same cause and reason”, the script continued:
Could y build a machine
e the same atmosphere?

TEGAN :
to c©

DOCT Very easily.
TEGAN: Why don‘t you? We could
spend every day feeling like

this.

all
vironment to

of us need an

feel

arti
friendly.

Thirteen seconds were cut from the beginning of the UNIT
reunion scene, as Crichton pours himself and the Brigadier’s drinks,
and toasts “To civilian life”. Similarly, a brief shot of Crichion
replacing the top on the bottle is missing from the scene’s end. The
following scene contains interesting variations, in that the Doctor’s
line about Zodin and creatures “covered in hair [that | hopped about
like kangeroos™ is not scripted, and each of the six takes required
includes slight vanations. including references 10 Zodin as “him™
The Doctor also goes on 1o ask the Brigadier; *You never met my

Continued on page 24
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THE SPECIAL EDITI

ADVENTURES IN
THE DEATH ZONE

(OR BBC ENTERPRISES, AS IT'S ALSO KNOWN)

RICHARD MOLESWORTH describes how THe Five DocTtors re-
turned to the editing suite 12 years after it was originally made

THE SPECIAL EDITION video release of T Five
Doctokrs came about from a series of related occur-
rences. It started in 1993, when | was researching an
article for the DWA Compendium on the BBC Film and
video library. Assisting me was Paul Vanezis, who at the
time was moving from being a VT Editor at BBC Pebble
Mill, 1o a Director on The Clothes Show. Paul checked
out a few facts for me, and discovered that all the studio
material, plus all telecine transfers from the Tue Five
Docrors still existed on their original 625-line 2-inch
videotape format.

Quite why this should be is not known — perhaps it
was because this was the last story made on 2-inch
(Warriors oF THE Deep being made on 1-1nch), or maybe
because it was the twentieth anniversary story, or maybe
just an oversight. Also at the time, we were helping
Kevin Davies out with Thirty Years in the TARDIS,
along with Steve Roberts, who was a member of the
unafficial BBC restoration team, responsible for the
recolourisation of Doctor WHo aND THE SiLurians and
TerrOR OF THE AuTons. Al the time BBC video were
aboul 1o re-issue the original version of The Five Doc-
TORS. as the original release had sold out, but were
dismayed to discover that their original duplicate master
of the story had been damaged. Instead of making a new
master, BBC video were put in touch with Paul Vanezis,
who explained that — if they wanted — it would be
possible 1o release an extended version of the story.

Throughout 1994 various idea’s were kicked about
with. Firstly, to ‘drop in” any new material (as they did
with SiLver Nemesis) without any real modification, or
to update the story. BBC video favoured the latter. Paul
and myself went away, and whilst Paul started planning
the extended release, | looked at the possibility of adding
amini-documentary to the package, using material from
the studio recordings and ancillary TV material from
1983. The idea being that with all the material being put
on a single tape. a copy of the script could also be
included in the package, in a similar way 1o the SHADA
release. This idea was never utilised, with BBC Video
deciding to instead release it in a double pack with The
King's DEMONS.

Paul ordered up copies of all the material, and the
tapes were viewed and painstakingly logged. We then
looked at the original edit of the show (which ran to
around 96 minutes) which also still existed, and Terrance
Dicks's original script. One of the first things Paul
decided was to move many of the opening scenes back
into their original order

The first couple of scenes were causing a bit of a
problem. The second scene — on the Eye of Onon —
featured unused matenal of Turlough skeiching, fol-
lowed by the Doctor coming out of the TARDIS. This
didn't work after the initial TARDIS scene, as their was
a huge gap between the Doctor walking out the doors in
the studio, and then leaving the Police Box on location.
| voiced the idea that the shot of Turlough sketching
could precede the interior shots, but this didn’t quite
work as an opening. Looking at some of the studio
material, | noticed that there were a few empty shots of

the interior of the Tower of Rassilon that could be mixed
together, coupled with an unused model shot of the
tower itself. Paul liked this idea, as it gave the story a
stronger opening than the TV version, and so the re-
editing of the story began

Although Paul was in charge of the project, both
myself and Steve Roberts also had a great deal of input
into the final programme — in particular, Steve came up
with the spooky shots of the phantom companions dis-
solving away, using a smoke key (ironically, one of the
smoke overlays stll in existence from THe DaLex
MasterrLan). My own favourite contribution that was
utilised was a new piece of recorder music arranged by
Peter Howell that was used over a shot of the second
Doctor and the Brigadier walking towards the Tower
this shot was longer than that oniginally used, and needed
something to make 1t work on screen.

At the end of the day, the project was Paul’s, and he
made all the final decisions. Most of them [ feel work
well, although I always argued against the re-modelled
3D timescoop effect. although Paul was [ is perfectly
happy with it. Paul also decided to drop the secaond
SHaDA clip at the end, as we both feltis didn't fit into the
story at all. Paul ensured that a photo of Tom Baker (and
only Tom...) was used to depict the fourth Doctor being
trapped, and that it would be in the same costume as seen
in the clip (unlike the TV version). Paul also hated the

cutaway TARDIS separating shot used to take all the
Doctors home at the end, and T suggested using the
tumescoop effect again, which Paul agreed works far
better,

All along the way, BBC video assured us that they
had obtained all the necessary clearances for the tape.
We had taken it upon ourselves o get agreement from
Terrance Dicks, had approached Peter Howell about re-
scoring the music (which was fortuitous — he was just
about to recycle his original tapes), and also Dave
Chapman, who was delighted to have the opportunity to
have another go with some of his video effects, How-
ever, when we delivered the finished programme, we
discovered that John Nathan-Turner and Peter Moflat
had not been approached about the project, and although
neither actually needed to be consulted, it was, in my
opinion, extremely unprofessional that they had not
been told. INT made a minor complaint about the
structure of the end credits, that resulted in them being
rearranged without Paul’s supervision, which means for
the video release they now no longer cut correctly to the
end music. JNT has since said in his Docror Who
Maguzine memoirs that he feels the Special Edition is
overlong and a*boring yarmn". Of course, he is entitled to
his opinions, although our brief was 1o make it as long as
we possibly could. If we wanted to make the story more
exciung, the release would have only been around 70
minutes long..

Paul’s thoughts an the project now?

“Tue Five Doctors — The Special Edition was never
intended 10 be more than an alterative 1o the original
version. It was a joy to do and | think the end result is as
up to date as it can be without reshooting any of it (which
was also an option). Although now a distant memory, 1
do remember with some amusement reading Jan Vin-
cent-Rudzki’s editorial in TV Zone which also featured
a review of the video. He insisted that someone elses
work shouldn’t be mucked around with and that the
artistic decisions of the past should be left as they are
(unless the original team had something todo withit). He
is of course completely missing the point. There 1sn’t
anything in Tee Five Docrogrs that had anything to do
with art apart from the music. It's a good story consid-
ering the constraints, but flawed in design and direction.
Y ou would think that a story celebrating twenty years of
a hugely popular programme would have had a little
more care taken over it, but it didn’t. What we liked
about it was the fact that it brought together all our
favourite villains with all the personas of our favourite
hero. The detractors of it are taking itall far oo seriously
My belief though, is that if you have a job to do, you
should do the best job you can given production con-
straints. That's what 1 did.”

Paul and Steve Roberts have collaborated again
since on the excellent Bottom — Fluffvideo release, and
more recently, the three of us have been discussing ways
tomake a further Doctor Who video release — Tue War
MacHivges — more... complete. The results should be
apparent before the end of 1997 @
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Auntie Mabel, did you?", o which the Brigadier replies, “No™, a
sequence overdubbed on the transmitted version

The lollowing scene in the TARDIS was the first of many Fifth
Daoctor fades away' seguences 1o be timmed, losing the opening 11
seconds

Further sequences of six and twenty seconds respectively are
removed from the beginning and end of the nexi scenes in the
TARDIS as follows

Doctor recovers - and Tegan adds *And if he doesn1?":

The last of these scenes is a 3] second sequence scheduled to
follow Sarah and the Doctor’s reunion, was lost entirely. In the
previous TARDIS scene the Doctor had mumbled something about
sending a signal. The missing scene continues:

something aboubt a signal.

o wh
wWho

Seven seconds were cut from the end of the first Doctor/ fifth
Doctor reunion scene — after Tegan and Turlough leave 1o prepare
a meal, the first Doctor turns to his younger self:

. Mo

Do low,

tell me all

about ict.

In the scene where the Doctor and Sarah drive through the Death
Zone in Bessie the opening portion of their dialogue has been cut, and
it also differs in places to the script

SARAH: It's so desclate.

DocC : It's the Death Zone, Sarah.

setting for the Game., A disgraceful

busi a altogether. They scooped up
alien species, set them down here and
watched them Efight it out.

SAR That's horrible.

The

DOCTO 01d Rassilon put a stop to it in
the en Sealed off the Zone, forbade the
use of the Timescoaop. until now.

A sequence restored in pan to the BBC Video release comes as
the Doctor takes the recall device from the unconscious Master, and
the action cuts to the Capitol

{ LIGHT

TARTS TO FLASH

ON THE

JAN: All available power to
transmat beam. Locked on! Transference

to retrieve the

Five seconds are then cut from the beginning of the next TARDIS
scene, showing Tegan binding Susan’s ankle with a bandage. The
end of the sume scene also loses five seconds, as Tegan asks 1o go with
the first Doctor:

if you must
O Thank you for
TURLOUGH SUPPRESSES
( {PRESSION)
scene in which the Master makes
deal with the Cybermen was also cut,
losing a final sequence of 11 seconds as
follows:

{HE SMILES)
offering.
A LAUGH AT TEGAN'S

(THE CYBERLEADER STEPS UP TO THE MASTER)
LEADER: You will guide us to the Tower.
STER SMILES AND THE CYBERMEN LOWER

EIR WEAPONS. THE MASTER SETS
THE CYBERMEN WHO FOLLOW)

More complex cuts were made to the scenes of the Brigadier and
the second Doctor in the caves

DOCTOR : me along, Brigadier.

BRIGADIER: Dammit, Doctor.

for this sort of thing any

DOCTOR: You never were. Cheer up. We're

getting along very nicely. The tunnel's

rising all the time. ..

The TV version picks up here, but with the Doctor’s words “This
wiy” dubbed at this point. There are 16 seconds missing.

Also lost was an |1 second scene reminding viewers why
Turlough and Susan couldn't simply escape the Cybermen's bomb by
taking off

OFF AHEAD

This way.
I'm not built

more. ..

{SUSAN AND TURLOUGH STAGGER AS THE WHOLE
TARDIS KS AND SHAKES. THERE IS A SOUND
P

ING)

If only we could get
Can you operate
Yes. ..

ur

T away from

the controls?

But you're forgetting:

still trapped by the force-field
from the Tower.

Another notable sequence reinstated in the video version follows
the Cyber-massacre, as the Doctor and Sarah head for the cave. They
are spotted by a lone Cyberman whao follows them up the mountain
Onge at the 1op, while the Doctor is preparing his lasso, Sarah spies
several Cybermen climbing after them. She picks up a small rock and
lobs 11 at the Cybermen. She misses and returns to the Doctor, who is
now ready for her.

A 10 second cut occurs at the end of the chess-board scene. Tegan
starting to follow the Doctor across the board is missing. This leads
directly into a cut sequence where the fifth Doctor marches up to the
Conference Room doors, and enters, He calls 1o Borusa, who is not
there. On TV, the scene simply cuts in al a later point with the Doctor
asking the guards where Borusa is

The following scene with the second Doctor and the Brigadier is
missing its beginning:

here. ..
SAN:
we're

R AND THE DOCTOR COME ALONG

I don't
ange -

1ike ic.
= nauseous.
at you feel is fear, Brigadier.
from the mind of Rassilon.
Fear?
THEY }

Doctor. I

Projected
BRIGADIER:
| SUDDENLY
THE BRIGADIER IS
DOCTOR RESTRAINS

A PIERCING
A\BOUT TO RUSH
HIM)

It may be a trap.

SCREAM.
OFF. THE

DOCTOR:
here.
BRIGADIER: Certainly not.

DOCTOR: Oh. all right. But don't get in
the way.

(THEY MOVE OFF. THE SCREAM SOUNDS AGAIN)
Several cuts are made during the meeting of the Doctors in the

=
i

look. Wait

ot
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PRODUCTION

Tomb: When the first Doctor and Teg
cut is made removing a shot of the Do

pyramid and walking all around it. When the Brigadier arrived to
meet Sarah and Tegan he originally quipped

BRIGADIER: Don't
It's like a cross
Halloween.

Another cut comes after Sarah’s ¢

ask
bet

leaves them out when things get inte

TEGAN: My version

SARAH: Which one’'s yo

A 11 second cut comes after the
bomb outside the TARDIS:

isn

an enter the Tomb, a 10 second
stor approaching the engraved  “True immortality™:
BORUSA: Rassilon 1
immortal
me how we got here.

ween Guy Fawkes and the Master.

A similar cut occurs as Borusa declares he knows the secret to

ives, Doctor. He is

This then leads to a longer sequence of Sarah and Tegan binding

As Borusa leads the fifth Doctor from the Game Room the start

omment that the Doctor always

resting BORUSA: Time to go.
‘t much better, ity awaits.
urs? (THE VOICE

Cybermen have prepared their
as on TV)

CYBEERLEADER: Your orders are to move
back! disembodied voice asks:
CYBERMAN: Excellent! FASSILON:

{(THE CYBERMEN MOVE BA

This is followed by a top and tailing edit after Turlough’s line that

he and Susan are going to die:
TURLOUGH: Die... it s
(THE FIFTH DOCTOR IS
ROOM. HE STANDS BY TH
THREE STRINGS)

CK) Rassilon?
(BORUSA STEPS
shot seen
eams .
IN THE
E HARP

CONFERENCE
AND PICKS AT

UP TO THE DAIS
from above the

Initial cuts used a different sequence of the fourth Doctor and
Roman, showing them approaching the college gates, firstly in
freeze-frame and then slowing speeding up. This scene was changed

of the next scene in which they emerge was cut

Doctor. My immortal-

OF THE SECOND DOCTOR THEN
COMES ACROSS THE TRANSMAT COMMUNICATOR

Just before Rassilon appears, a 10 second cut occurs, The still

Who has come to disturb

- a high
bier)

tothe one seen on TV at John Nathan-Turner's insistence as in shows

Pledging Support

DOCTOR WHO's twentieth anniversary was ungues-
tionably the most hyped event in its history. Longleat
was by and large regarded as the kick-off but although it
was the start of the public’'s exposure 10 festivities,
behind the scenes a lot more was going on, and in some
cases had been since the preceding summer.

The publishing group W.H.Allen, owners of the
Target Book range of novelisations, had put their plans
in motion as ecarly as October 1982, Titled simply
Doctor Whe - A Celebration, this coffee-table format
hardback was the brainchild of Managing Director Bob
Tanner, who commissioned it from one of the compa-
ny's freelance editor-cum-writers, Peter Haining.

Published September 1983, the initial print run of
25,000 sold out almost immediately, necessitating a
rapid second edition. To date it is still the single most
successiul Doctor Who book ever published, selling in
excess of 100,000 copies

worldwide in hardback nac 1

Monday November 21st in the Blue Peter studio. Pre-
senter Peter Duncan introduced viewers to a gaggle of
past Doctor Who monsters - some in pretty poor shape
- before ushering in a Sunshine Minibus being donated
by the Children in Need Trust to the Guerney School for
handicapped children. Driven by Peter Davison and
Richard Hurndall, in full costume and make-up, the
event marked Hurndall's one and only promotional
appearance as Doctor Who, outside the context of the
special’s production.

The grand scheme was that Doctor Who's first TV
movie would receive its broadcast premiere universally
on November 23rd 1983, just as John Nathan- Turner had
intended. The Controller of BBCI, however, was of the
opinion better ratings would be garnered placing itas a
highlight of the corporation’s annual Children in Need
telethon scheduled for Friday November 25th.

S Sy D

were still free todo so. The prime exponentof this option
was American PBS station WTTW (Channel 11), a local
broadcaster to the Chicago area in mid-western USA.

Conscious of a vast interest in Doctor Who among
young Americans, and aware of the Spirit of Light
convention taking place at the Hyatt Regency O'Hare
Hotel complex that weekend, Channel 11 scheduled the
anniversary special purposely on the night itself. Dueto
company by-laws governing the broadcast of imported
material during Prime Time, the station was unable to
get the same 7:30slotenjoyed by the BBC twodays later.
Instead they settled for a world premiere, uninterrupted
by commercials, starting 10:30 p.m central standard
time.

Ratings for the Channel || broadcast are unavail-
able, but the movie did face stiff opposition from the
popular Johnny Carson Show on NBC. Other oppo-
nents in the [linois/Indi-
ana region included

1 1 \ ) ~——71 :
alone. I CHILDAEN I NEED " Night Line News on
Not to be outdone, John b e e 0L S t_ LR s ABC and reruns of Po-
Nathan-Turner had ap- | e i i : Ii R lice Story on CBS and
proached Radio Times o i e e oo <ok e o i 1 The Love Boat on local
. BBC 2 \l T -~
wards the end of 1982 with T T T T T T T | — Chicago station WGN.
a view 1o them producing a S O . N s e T - - American audi-
sequel to their enormously | s | —— -4 ences did not see an en-
; al) |a| BUSFELL RO 2 - - - :
successful Doctor Who T e e = e e tirely uncut print of the
TenthAnniversary Special. I (i iy, - b ! . - story. The cutaway shot
» 1 1 = 5
Researched and edited dur- : of a Time Lord corpse
ing August and September = o “ 5 Fear ;:;.‘1 A T I;g,':,,:,._ e P | e J spotted by the Master as
1983 this lavish, full col- o scnll | e 1 [rrooniene he roams the Death Zone
our, 64-page follow-up was e L i e EE i C e e e was excised by Channel
just able to squeeze in de- Sy 4 . . . - ' 11 censors priorto broad-
tails of the sixth Doctor's | . casl. That same version
identity before a deadline | ne g TUmE CUVRE. N TN AMEBCN  moowNe . THERRA PCRAE was repeated four days
timed 10 meet its scheduled ”IL mn] | e o] | ream later on Sunday Novem-
500 &30 L2 ) 630 00 T30 [E .0 »00 L2l 1000 10:30 1TH00

October street-date.
While not quite the same
best-seller its 1973 counterpart had been, the Doctor
Who Twentieth Anniversary Special’s sales were suffi-
cient 1o convinee its editors of the merits of sanctioning
the first Time Lord cover for the regular magazine since
Tue Time Warrior almost exactly ten years earlier.
Accordingly athree page colourarticle by lan Levine
profiling The Five DocTors, plus a cover commissioned
from Andrew Skilleter, adorned 1ssue 3132 for the week
spanning November 19th-25th. Sadly there were grem-
lins. A strike by workers at the Radio Times" printers in
the south-east impacted that part of the country 1o a point
where no copies of the magazine were produced that
week. Other parts of the country were unaffected.
Additional publicity for the special took place live on

Such a move did not ultimately benefit the special,
although itdid boost year-on-yearratings for Children in
Need. Loyal fans and those motivated by the nationwide
appeal did wne in, but as far as the greater television
population was concerned, the spectre of more than four
hours’ collection tin rattling was a major cause of mass
channel hopping that night. Despite minimal opposition
from BBC2 (Dance International), Channe! 4 (Right
to Reply) and networked ITV (The A Team), the best
the show could do was 7.7 million viewers - on par with
season 20's best placed episodes: SKAKEDANCE part two
and MawpryN UNDEAD part four

Overseas countries who had purchased special agree-
ments to broadcast the show on the anniversary date

ber 27th at 9:30 am and
then once more around
11:00 pm that night as part of the monthly funding
pledge drive (telethon), with costumed fans (Whovians)
invited in by Channel 11 manning the phone lines.

By way of partial compensation BBC | viewers in the
London area were able to see a pre-recorded interview
between Peter Davison and Children in Need host Terry
Wogan immediately after the British premiere of THE
Five Doctors. During this short piece Davison donated
his oniginal fifth Doctor coat for charity auctioning,
meanwhile apologising for not being a live presence in
the studio. Like so many of his co-stars he had & major
booking in the Windy City.

The Five Doctors
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the Doctor and Romana leaving in the TARDIS, just as the other
Doctors would later do. When this occurs, a 7 second establishing
shot of the TARDIS before it sphits up has been cut.

As Chancellor Flavia arrives, a 3 second shot of the empty
transmat booth has been cut, followed by a further 13 seconds
showing two other guards materialising. On TV these later
materialisations are heard off-sereen. The next cut comes where
Flavia announces (o the Doctor that he has been chosen as President
The cut removes a portion of dialogue within their conversation:

FLAVIA office

..to take immediately

no Time
will
attract the se»

AMONS

disobey

il will

Chancellor Flavia,

11 go back...
The final cut, of 15 seconds, shows Flavia snapping her fingers
at her guards and stepping into the transmat.

TRANSMISSION: i cpre

dubs took place on September 14th and 15th 1o prepare
atransmission print of the TV movie, and on September
22nd and October 6th for the episodic versions. A
British transmission date of Wednesday November 23rd
1983 was originally intended but late in the day a
decision was made by the BBC1 Controller to move it
to the following Friday 1o help attract more viewers to
the Children in Need charity telethon

Terrance Dicks wrole a standard 128-page
novelisation of his seriptimmediately afier the rehearsal
drafts had been accepted by the BBC so that W.H. Allen
ultane-
ter the

couldn
ously in hardback and paperback the week 1
show's premiere on air. For once, however, the distribu
tion system was shead of the game. First edition paperbacks
featuring &t silver embossed cover began appeartng in shops
around mid-November. Despite protests to the publishers from John
Nathan-Turner, it was oo late 1o halt eager fans from digesting the
story ahead of transmission

On BBC1 the special was well trailed, Monday
saw Nicholas Courtney, Mary Tamm, Janel Fielding and Mark
Strickson in Birmingham to start celebrations by cutting a special
20th amniversary cake on air as part of the live Pebble Mill magazine
programme. That same day Peter Davison and Richard Hurndall
appeared on Blue Peter to present the Sunshine Minibus to children
of the Gurney School. The day afer a host of Doctor Who regular
cast members, plus John Nathan-Turner, departed Heathrow Atrport
en route to Chicago for the big Spirit of Light convention that
weekend. They were in time o see the world premiere of The Frv
Doctors on Wednesday 23rd November, broadcast by the WTTW
PBS channel,

Back in the U.K Peter Davison pre-recorded a short feature with
Terry Wogan on Wednesday intended for broadeast during Children
i Need. Davison flew out to the USA on Friday, unaware that his
inferview would only be shown in the London region. 19:20 was the
scheduled start of Tie Five Doctors, at 90° 237 slightly longer than
the edited print shown in Chicago. In some areas sublitles were
supenmposed aver the picture showing totals the Children in Need
appeal had amassed so far

Despite its status, and the fact Doctor Who had not been on air
since August reruns of Tue Visrranos, Kinoa and Beack Orcmo, T
Five Doctors only managed an audience total of 7.7 million viewers,
and a chart position of 51, although this was on par with the top rated

won 20. The episodic version was screened over

ttheir ambition 1o release the story s

episodes from
four consecutive nights commencing Tuesday August 14th 1984 at
18:15. Ratings for the repeats were alarmingly low, at 4.7m, 4.5m,
'm and 4.8m. The best chart position was 88, the worst, 107

A BBC video of the full TV movie appeared in J985. In 1995 a
spectal version of the story was released as part of a boxed set, along

with Tue Kina's Desons, a pair of commemorative posicards and an
album for the cards. Running to 101 minutes, the story had been re-
edited by Paul Vanexs of BBC Birmingham to incorporate some
scenes chopped from the 1983 pring, improved electronic effects and
a soundtrack m full Dolby stereo

TRIVIA: According to the script, the black-

gloved hands of the unseen villain open an “lvory box,
the kind that might contain angtique chessmen... the
hand takes a piece from the box and places it on the
map”. On TV, the figurines malerialise in a cobicle
While an insert shot shows the Brigadier's torch
being drawn aside by a breeze, the long-shot fails 1o do

S0

The Frve Doctors has been issued under no fewer
than three video covers: the original Radio Times cover
by Andrew Skilleter, Alister Pearson’s cover for the
unedited re-issue, and Colin Howard's revamp for the
Special Edition

Terrance Dicks’ novelisation states that the Doctor
has three great-grandehildredn via Susan, and that her husband David
is & prominent figure in the post-Davex In
farmer, as he'd planned!)

CONTINUITY: Ihe Doctors are once

again confirmed as the original through fifth incarna-
tions, as stated by Tue Turer Docrors and Maworys
Unnean.

The Brigadier's moustache, hair colour and lack of
bald patch support the script's suggestion that Tue Five
Daocrors takes place at the time of his retirement — prior
10 gither section of Maworyn Unoeap. Unfortunately,
he recogmises “Miss Jovanka”, which rather under-
mines that suggestion

Two of the High Council disappeared in the Death
Zone before the Master's arrival. Unfortunately, three
members of the Inner Council are absent compared with
Anrc oF Inewrry: Thaha, Zorac and Hedin's successor
Presumably, Thalia resigned, making way for Flavia, between the
two stories, and the dead councillors were the other two. The Doctor
indicates that he has known the Castellan — only the third regular
character to die in the series’ history — for a long time... implying
they knew each other before Arc oF Inviniry. Later, Flavia implies
she was connected to a previous occasion where the Doclor was
offered the Time Lord presidency... as she would have had litle
chance 1o do so in The Invasion or Time, this may refer 1o the time
before the Doctor first left Gallifrey

The Time Lords are apparently able to contact the Master o
invite him to Gallifrey despite his renegade status — and he doesn't
seem worried that they might try to stop him leaving. Either he has
a high opinion of their promises, or he knows their “inability’ o
capture him on other occasions is fess than genuine. .. Similarly, the
first Doctor and Susan seem less worried about being back on
Gallifrey than Tre War Gases might have suggested

Each Doctor’s iability to remember his earlier experiences of
this incident may be explained in a variety of ways, One explanation
would state that while this incident takes place at different points in
his time stream, it nevertheless oceurs simultaneously, so the Doctor
is only able to look back and recall it once his previous selves are
returned to normal time and their history reconnects 1o the original
time-stream. This also would make it possible for the earlier Doctors
10 be killed without threatening the current Doctor's existence - as
appears fo be the case (and is not in Tre Two Doctons)

Certainly, that the second Doctor knows of Omega (or more
precisely, knows of him as someone connected to the Brigadier, not
merely aGallifreyan pioneer) suggests that Time Lords retain memo-
ries of meeting their other incarnations until their next regeneration
Alternatively, it might be that these memories of previous such
encounters are restored when taken out of time — which might
explain the second Doctor's knowledge of Jamie and Zoe's fates, if
he discovered it during True Turee Doctors mindlink with his
SuCCessor

The third Doctor recognises the Master's new incamation - after
amoment’s hesitation. Come to that, so does the Brigadier... but then
the look is quite distinctive. Sarah-Jane does not... and doesn't know
the Master once the Doctor identifies him, so they've never met in
untransmitted adventures. Susan doesn't seem to know the Master,
implying that his fmendship with her grandfather broke up earlier
than she remembers; that the first Doctor doesn't recall him either
supports this, implying that the two Time Lords didn't meet again
until the Doctor's second incamation. The Doctor 1sn't surprised that
Liz and Mike know each other, confirming that Yates joined LINIT
before Liz's resignation.

The Cyberleader states that promises made 10 aliens have no
validity... implying that the concept of promises still matter to the
cyborgs

The early Time Lords used the Time Scoop to kidnup creatures
from across the universe for use in gladiatorial contests, Conflicting
accounts suggest either that Rassilon instigated the Games, or that he
was responsible for shutting them down - if the latter were true, it
would imply that the Games (and hence the Time Scoop) existed
before he and Omega created the Eye of Harmony on which the
Time Lords' current time travel technology is based
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CREDITS and REFERENCES

THE FIVE DOCTORS

Series 20, Special
Serial 129, Code 6K
Episodes 606-609 (90 minute special)

Cast:

The Doctor

The (first) Doctor
The (second) Doctor
I'he (third) Doctor
Tegan Jovanka
furlcagh

Peter Davison
Richard Hurndal
Patrick Troughton
lon Pertwee
Janet Fielding
Muark Stricksaon
Sarah-Jane Smith Elisabeth Sladen
Susan Foremian Carole Ann Ford
Brigadier Lethbridge-Stewart
Nicholas Courtney
Anthony Ainley
Philip Latham
Dinah Sheridan
David Savile
Paul Jerricho
Richard Mathews
David Banks
Mark Hardy
Stuart Blake

Stephen Meredith

The Master

Lard "'resident Borusa
Chancetlor Flavia
Colonel Crichton”
Castelban

Rassilon

Cylber Leader

Cyber Licutenant
Guard Comuamder
Lime Lord Technician

Small and Non-Speaking:
Voice of K9 Voice™
Guards

John Leeson
John Tallents

Normian Bradley, Lloyd Williams
Daiek Voice Roy Skelton
Dalek Operator John Scott Martin
‘Jamie McCrimmon' Fraser Hines
‘Zoe Herriot' Wendy Padbury
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‘Liz Shaw’
‘Captain Yates'
Cyber Scout'
UNIT Sergeant’
Raston Robot
Stunt Cyberman

The (fourthj Doctor™

Romana’
‘The {first) Doctor’
Yeti
Cybermen'
Richa

Caroline John
Richard Franklin
William Kenton
Ray Float

Keith Hodiak
Stuart Fell

Tom Baker

Lalla Ward
William Hartnell
Lee Woods

Lee Woods

d Naylor, Mark Whincup

Gilbert Gillan, Emyr Moms Jones

Cybermen™

Graham Cole

Alan Riches, fan Marshall-Fisher
Murk Bassenger, Myrddin Jones

Time Lords

Johnmie Mack

Frederick Waolfe, Charles Milward

Crew

Title Music by

Ron Grainer

and the Radiophanic Warkshop

Incidental Music
Special Sound

Production Assistant
Production Manager
Assistant Floor Manager

Floor Assistant
Studio Lighting

I'echnical Munager

Peter Howell
Dick Milis

Jean Davis
Jeremy Silberston
Pauline Sea
Chns Stanton
Don Babbage
Derek Thompson

Studio Sound
Grams Operator
Video Effects

ion Mixer
Videotape Editor
Crew

Camera Supervisor
Film Cameraman
A ssistant

Sound Recordist
Assistant

Film Editor
Lighting

Grips

Film Ops

Martin Ridout
John Downes
Dave Chapman
Shirley Coward
Hugh Parson
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Alec Wheal
John Baker
Nick Squires
John Gatland
Brian Baffin
M.A.C Adams
Archie Dawson
T'ex Childs
John Rice

Les Thomas, Brian Wallers, Enc Levey

Assistants

Costume Designer
Assistant
Dressers

Malcolm James, Dave Rogers

Film Operators Manager.Grahum Richmond

Colin Lavers
Peter Halston
Carl Levy

Philip Winter, Camilla Gavin

Make-Up Artist
Assistants
Visual Effects
TARDIS Console
Design Elfects
Armourer
Properties Buyer
Graphic Designer
Designer

Assistant
Production Secrets

Production Associate

Writer
Seript-Editor

Jill H

W ET

Naomi Donne, Fay Hammond

John Brace
Mike Kelt

Jean Peyre
Tony Chilton
Robert Fleming
lan Hewetl
Malcolm Thornton
Steve Fawcelt
Jane Judge

June Collins
l'errance Dicks
Eric Saward
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Blake's 7
Tha Box of Dalights |
Burgess and Mclean
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« Cuve Allen Show
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John Nathan-Turmer

Director Peter Mottt
(Shada Inserts) Pennant Roberts
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John Nathan-Turner

Producer

Programme Numbers:

Sth, 7th - 11th.
1 7th March 1983
18th March, 1983

Location Filming:
13th-15th
Studio Filming:

Recording: 29th - 31s1t March 1983, TC6

Transmission:
25th November 1983, 7.20pm BBCI
(90°23", 19 20 )

Repeat:
Part One: 14th August 1984, 6.15pm BBC
(24157, 1815 15 )
15th August 1984, 6. 15pm BBC|
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Part Three: [6th August 1984, 6. 15pm BBC
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Part T'wo:
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